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TO MAINTAIN STABILITY IN THE GENERAL LEVEL OF PRICES
TO ENSURE EFFICIENT OPERATIONS OF THE BANKING AND CREDIT SYSTEMS

TO SUPPORT GENERAL ECONOMIC GROWTH

MANDATE OF THE BANK
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domestic conditions in 2015 but with the implementation of prudent 
macroeconomic policies, the challenges were surmounted to a large 
extent.

Global growth was generally subdued due to a combination of fac-
tors including a sharp decline in commodity prices, rebalancing in 
China from investments towards consumption, and normalisation of 
monetary policy in the United States. These developments resulted 
in diverse growth outturns across regions. While growth picked up in 
advanced economies, it weakened in major emerging market econo-
mies and Sub-Saharan Africa.  

The global shocks coupled with other domestic challenges such as 
persistent energy supply shortfalls had adverse impact on the Gha-
naian economy. In April, Ghana signed a three-year Enhanced Credit 
Facility programme with the International Monetary Fund in a bid to 
regain macroeconomic stability and restore debt sustainability. The 

monetary policy implementation and structural reforms, especially in 
the public sector.

In addition to the energy supply shortfalls, domestic economic activ-

slower growth in private sector credit. Provisional real GDP growth 
for 2015 was 3.9 per cent compared with 4.0 per cent recorded in 
2014.

-
get band of 8±2 per cent and ended the year at 17.7 per cent. The 

-
rency depreciation and upward adjustments in utilities tariffs, prices 
of petroleum products and transport fares, as government deregu-
lated the petroleum sector to remove subsidies. 

the Monetary Policy Committee hiked the Monetary Policy Rate by a 
cumulative 500 basis points to 26 per cent by the end of the year and 

barring any unanticipated shocks. The policy measures contributed 

half of the year.
  

both Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) and Non-Bank Financial Institu-
tions (NBFIs) declined and non-performing loans increased. Howev-
er, total assets increased and DMBs remained solvent and complied 
with the minimum capital adequacy requirement. The use of credit 

-
stitutions performed due diligence on customers.  

The Bank took major steps to further strengthen the regulatory 
framework underpinning the payment and settlement systems. In 
July, the Bank launched the Electronic-Money and Agents guidelines 
to replace the Branchless Banking guidelines introduced in 2008. 

institutions and duly licensed non-bank entities only.  The guidelines 
were also designed to regulate operations of mobile money agents 

ensure consumer protection. Following the introduction of the guide-
lines, new institutions emerged alongside new products and services 

institutions. 

On the regulatory front, the Bank submitted the Banks and Special-
ised Deposit-Taking Institutions Bill to Parliament for consideration to 
replace the current Banking Act 2004 (Act, 673). The new banking 
bill is meant to bridge gaps associated with consolidated supervi-
sion, bank resolution and other gaps in the existing legal framework. 
The Ghana Deposit Protection Bill was submitted for consideration to 

amended Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612) was also submitted to 
the Ministry of Finance for onward submission to Cabinet. 

A newly constructed ultra-modern Cash Centre at the General Ser-
vices Complex of the Bank was successfully inaugurated in Decem-
ber 2015. The Cash Centre is equipped with additional storage ca-
pacity for banknotes, increased processing capabilities, which would 
improve the turnaround time in respect of currency transactions and 
enhance the quality of service delivery. The Bank also completed the 

adopted ISO 31000:2009 as its Enterprise Risk Management Stand-
ard in the review year.

In an effort to strengthen regulation and supervision, the Bank con-
tinued its capacity building programmes and also recruited additional 
staff in the review year. 

I would like to extend my appreciation to the Board of Directors, 
members of the Monetary Policy Committee, Management and Staff 

forward, I count on the same commitment and support as we work 
towards regaining macroeconomic stability and setting the economy 
on a sustainable growth path. 

Thank you.

Dr. Henry A. K. WampahDr. Henry A. K. Wampah
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MANAGEMENT OF THE BANK

Mr. Salifu Abukari

Advisor
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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CHAPTER 1: GOVERNANCE
1.1 The Board of Directors

The governing body of the Bank, as stipulated in the Bank of 
Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612), is the Board of Directors, consisting 
of the Governor, who is also the Chairman, the two Deputy 
Governors and nine Non-Executive Directors. 

The Board of Directors is appointed by the President of the 
Republic of Ghana in consultation with the Council of State. The 
Governor and the two Deputy Governors are each appointed for 
a term of four years and are eligible for re-appointment. The 

and are also eligible for reappointment.

The Board is responsible for formulating policies necessary for 
the achievement of the Bank’s objectives, which are:

• To maintain stability in the general level of prices;

• 
credit systems;

• To support general economic growth.

1.2 Membership of the Board

Dr. Henry A. K. Wampah  Governor/Chairman
Mr. Millison K. Narh  First Deputy Governor
Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku  Second Deputy Governor
Dr. Sydney Laryea   Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Diana Amewu Ayettey  Non-Executive Director
Mr. Kwaku Bram-Larbi  Non-Executive Director
Dr. David Obu Andah  Non-Executive Director
Mr. Sam Appah   Non-Executive Director
Mr. Alexander Yamoah Kyei  Non-Executive Director
Prof. Kwabena Asomanin Anaman Non-Executive Director
Hon. Cassiel Ato Forson  Non-Executive Director
Dr. Augustine Fritz Gockel  Non-Executive Director

1.3 Committees of the Board

The Board has the following sub-committees which assist it to 
carry out its functions:

• Audit
• Economy and Research
• Human Resource, Corporate Governance and Legal
• Strategic Planning and Budget

Audit Committee

The Committee ensures that appropriate and adequate 
accounting procedures and controls are established and 
also supervises compliance with operational, statutory and 
international standards.

Membership

Dr. Sydney Laryea   Chairman
Dr. David Obu Andah  Member
Mrs. Diana Amewu Ayettey  Member
Mr. Millison K. Narh  Member
Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku  Member

Economy and Research Committee

The Committee is responsible for assessing and making policy 

relating to the Bank’s functions and the economy as a whole. It 
considers reports and policy proposals from Research and other 
departments of the Bank to enhance the quality of information 
provided to the Board and the general public.

Membership

Prof. Kwabena Asomanin Anaman  Chairman
Mr. Sam Appah    Member
Mr. Alexander Yamoah Kyei   Member
Mrs. Diana Amewu Ayettey   Member
Hon. Cassiel Ato Forson   Member
Dr. Augustine Fritz Gockel   Member
Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku   Member

Human Resource, Corporate Governance and Legal 
Committee

The Committee makes recommendations to the Board on policy 
matters relating to the human resource management function 
of the Bank and makes reviews when necessary. It also makes 
recommendations to the Board on policy matters relating to 
governance and legal issues including regulations, supervision, 
processes and operations to ensure compliance with statutory 
requirements and best practice.
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Dr. Henry A. K. Wampah Mr. Millison K. Narh

Mrs. Grace Akrofi Mrs. E. Ohene-Adu Prof. Joshua Y. Abor

Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku

Dr. J. K.  Kwakye

Members of the Committee

Membership

Mr. Kwaku Bram-Larbi  Chairman
Dr. David Obu Andah  Member
Prof. Kwabena A. Anaman  Member
Dr. Augustine Fritz Gockel  Member
Mr. Millison K. Narh  Member

Strategic Planning and Budget Committee

The Committee initiates the Bank’s strategic policies in the 

responsibility for the preparation of the Bank’s budget.

Membership

Mr. Sam Appah   Chairman
Dr. Sydney Laryea   Member
Mr. Alexander Yamoah Kyei   Member
Hon. Cassiel Ato Forson  Member
Dr. Augustine Fritz Gockel  Member
Mr. Millison K. Narh  Member
Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku  Member

1.4 The Monetary Policy Committee

The Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612), grants the Bank 
operational independence in the conduct of monetary policy. 
To enhance the conduct and management of monetary policy, 
the Act provides for the establishment of a Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC), comprising the Governor, the two Deputy 
Governors, the heads of Research and Banking departments 
and two external members appointed by Government. The MPC 

Members of the Committee

Dr. Henry A. K. Wampah  Governor/Chairman
Mr. Millison K. Narh  First Deputy Governor
Dr. Abdul-Nashiru Issahaku  Second Deputy Governor
Mrs. Elly Ohene-Adu Head of Banking Department

Dr. John Kwabena Kwakye  External Member
Prof. Joshua Yindenaba Abor External Member 
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2.1 Overview

Global economic activity remained broadly subdued throughout 
2015. This development was largely underpinned by four main 
factors:  a sharp decline in commodity prices, especially that of 
crude oil, a gradual decline and redirection of economic activity 
in China from investment and manufacturing to consumption 
and services, a tightening in United States monetary policy and 
a slower growth in emerging and developing economies. Global 

and developing markets vulnerable to widening spreads and 
currency depreciations. 

2.2 World Output Growth

According to the IMF April 2016 World Economic Outlook, 
global growth declined to 3.1 per cent in 2015 from 3.4 per cent 

and a slowdown in emerging markets. With the exception of the 
United Kingdom and Germany where the rate of growth declined, 
all other advanced economies experienced increased growth. 
The slowdown in growth in emerging markets and developing 

The United States economy remained resilient in 2015, 
registering a growth of 2.4 per, same as in 2014. This was 
supported by strengthening housing and labour markets and 

affected manufacturing activity while lower oil prices curtailed 
investment in the mining sector. 

In the euro area, growth rose to 1.6 per cent in 2015 from 
0.9 per cent in 2014.  The main driving forces were stronger 
private consumption, spurred on by lower oil prices, and easing 

Growth in emerging markets and developing economies slipped 
to 4.0 per cent in 2015 from 4.6 per cent in 2014. This was 
primarily due to weaker economic activity in Russia as the 
country was hard hit by declining oil prices, with growth falling 
to negative 3.7 per cent from 0.6 per cent in 2014; and also in 
China where growth declined from 7.3 per cent in 2014 to 6.9 
per cent.

In Sub-Saharan Africa, growth moderated to 3.4 per cent 
from 5.0 per cent in 2014. Notably, growth in Africa’s biggest 
economy, Nigeria, declined by more than half, from 6.3 per cent 
in 2014 to 2.7 per cent in 2015, and in South Africa, growth 
slowed marginally from 1.5 per cent to 1.3 per cent in 2015.

Table 2.1: World Economic Indicators

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook,  April 2016.

following declines in the prices of oil and other commodities. 

depreciation. 

from 0.8 per cent in 2014, largely as a result of lower gasoline 
and fuel costs. Notable upward price pressures emerged from 
services, shelter, medical care and transportation services. 

cent, the highest since July 2012.

In the United Kingdom, consumer prices edged up by 0.2 per 
cent in 2015, driven mainly by housing and utilities as well as 
restaurants and hotels prices.

CHAPTER 2: DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY

2014 2015 2016 2017
World Output 3.4 3.1 3.2 3.5
Advanced Economies 1.8 1.9 1.9 2.0

United States 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.5
Euro Area 0.9 1.6 1.5 1.6
   Germany 1.6 1.5 1.5 1.6
   France 0.2 1.1 1.1 1.3
   Italy -0.4 0.8 1.0 1.1
   Spain 1.4 3.2 2.6 2.3
Japan 0.0 0.5 0.5 -0.1
United Kingdom 2.9 2.2 1.9 2.2

Emerging Markets and 
Developing Economies

4.6 4.0 4.1 4.6

Russia 0.6 -3.7 -1.8 0.8
China 7.3 6.9 6.5 6.2
India 7.3 7.3 7.5 7.5

Latin America and the 
Caribbean

1.3 -0.1 -0.5 1.5

Brazil 0.1 -3.8 -3.8 0.0
Sub-Saharan Africa 5.0 3.4 3.0 4.0

Nigeria 6.3 2.7 2.3 3.5
South Africa 1.5 1.3 0.6 1.2

Memorandum
World Trade Volume (Goods 
and Services)

3.5 2.8 3.1 3.8

Commodity Prices (US dollars)
Oil -7.5 -47.2 -31.6 17.9
Non-Fuel -4.0 -17.4 -9.4 -0.7

Consumer Prices
Advanced Economies 1.4 0.3 0.7 1.5
Emerging Market & 
Developing Economies 4.7 4.7 4.5 4.2

Real GDP Growth (%)
Realised Projections

3.1
1.9
2.4
1.6
1.5
1.1
0.8
3.2
0.5
2.2

4.0

-3.7
6.9
7.3

-0.1

-3.8
3.4
2.7
1.3

2.8

-47.2
-17.4

0.3

4.7
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compared with 2.4 per cent in the previous year due mainly to 
rising food prices. 

mainly by food costs, transport and household contents and 
services. 

per cent in 2014 as the depreciating naira contributed to higher 

agricultural products, was 8.7 per cent.

2.4 Commodities Market

Developments in international commodities prices were mixed 
during the review year. This was the result of weak global 
demand for crude oil amid ample supply, stronger US dollar, 
and sluggish growth in China and other emerging market 
economies.

Crude Oil

Crude oil prices experienced a steady decline in 2015, falling by 
an average of 21.8 per cent to end the year below US$40 per 

a sustained excess supply over global demand on the back of 
increased US shale oil production, weak demand in some major 
economies, a relatively stronger dollar, and OPEC’s indecision 
on its output quota. 

Gold

Gold prices generally declined in 2015 as a result of expectation 
of higher interest rates in the US, unsupportive macroeconomic 
environment in emerging markets, and weak investor sentiments. 
The metal lost 9.2 per cent of its value to end the year at an 

Cocoa

Cocoa performed strongly with the market remaining generally 
bullish throughout the year. The price rose to an average of 
US$3,082 per tonne in 2015 from US$3,003 per tonne in 
2014. The rally in cocoa prices in 2015 stemmed from supply 
concerns in major cocoa growing regions, coupled with the 
fears of El Nino effects. The low production in Ghana for the 
2014/15 crop year was the main catalyst behind the rally in 
cocoa prices in spite of the record production in Cote d’Ivoire 
and a fall in demand.

 

Chart 2.2: Developments in International Cocoa Prices (LIFFE (£)/per Tonne)Chart 2.1: International Gold and Crude Oil Prices
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CHAPTER 3: DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GHANAIAN ECONOMY
3.1  Overview

The pace of domestic economic activity marginally slowed 
down in 2015 relative to 2014, largely due to the effect of the 
energy sector challenges especially on industry. According to 
the GSS, real GDP grew by 3.9 per cent compared with 4.0 

the year due to pass-through effects of a series of upward 
adjustments in utility tariffs and petroleum prices, as well as 
depreciation of the domestic currency. Consequently, headline 

from 17.0 per cent in the preceding year. 

Key monetary aggregates and credit to the private sector 
recorded slower growth in 2015. Growth in money supply, 

including foreign currency deposits (M2+), declined to 26.1 
per cent from 36.8 per cent in the previous year. Credit to 
the private sector recorded a lower growth of 30.8 per cent 
compared with 42.6 per cent in 2014. The Ghana Stock 
Exchange Composite Index (GSE-CI) declined by 11.7 per cent 
and market capitalisation also fell by 11.2 per cent. 

In the external sector, the balance of payments registered a 

million in 2014. Gross international reserves (GIR) increased 

3.5 months of imports of goods and services. Total external 
debt at the end of 2015 was estimated at US$15,781.9 million, 
equivalent to 42.8 per cent of GDP. 

Table 3.1: Selected Economic Indicators

 

Indicators 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Real GDP Growth (%) 14.0 9.3 7.3 4.0 3.9*
   Agriculture 0.8 2.3 5.7 4.6 2.4

   Industry 41.6 11.0 6.6 0.8 1.2
   Services 9.4 12.1 10.0 5.6 5.7
Non-Oil GDP Growth (%) 8.2 8.6 6.7 3.9 4.1
Nominal GDP (GH¢’ million) 59,816.0 75,315.0 93,416.0 113,343.0 139,936.0

Year-on-Year In a on (%)
   End Period 8.6 8.8 13.5 17.0 17.7

   Annual Average 8.7 9.2 11.4 15.4 17.1

   Reserve Money 31.1 36.0 15.1 30.2 24.2

   Money Supply (M2+) 33.2 24.3 19.1 36.8 26.1

   Money Supply (M2) 30.2 22.9 18.2 33.0 26.6

   Private Sector Credit 26.3 34.1 28.6 42.6 30.8

   Monetary Policy Rate 12.5 15.0 18.0 21.0 26.0

   91-Day Treasury Bil l 10.3 22.9 18.8 25.8 23.1

   182-Day Treasury Bil l 11.1 22.9 18.8 26.4 24.4

   1-Year Note 11.3 22.9 17.0 22.5 22.7

   2-Year Note 12.4 23.0 16.5 23.0 24.0

   GH¢/US$ 1.6 1.9 2.2 3.2 3.8

   GH¢/Pound Sterling 2.5 3.1 3.7 5.0 5.6

   GH¢/Euro 2.1 2.5 3.1 3.9 4.2

   Exports of Goods and Sevices 14,595.5 16,812.0 16,206.0 15,257.8 10,438.1

   Imports of Goods and Services 19,504.2 21,998.0 22,498.1 19,247.1 14,037.9

   Current Account Balance - 3,541.3 -4,910.6 -5,704.1 3,694.5 -2,808.3

   Overall  Balance of Payments 712.5 -669.2 -874.2 -85.2 -105.8

Gross Foreign Assets (End-Period) 5,452.0 5,742.3 5,632.2 5,461.0 5,884.7

  Months of Imports of Goods & Services 3.2 3.1 3.6 3.8 3.5

Debt 
   External Debts (US$’Million) 7,653.0 9,153.6 11,901.9 13,871.8 15,781.8

   Domes c’Debt (GH¢’Million) 11,841.1 18,535.2 26,665.8 34,650.8 38,828.1

Government (% of GDP)
   Domes c Revenue 19.5 20.7 20.1 21.1 20.9

   Grants 1.9 1.6 0.8 0.7 1.2
   Total Expenditure 22.4 27.9 29.2 28.2 26.7
   Overall  Balance (Incl. Grant & Dives ture) -4.0 -11.5 -9.2 -10.2 -6.7

   Domes c Primary Balance 2.9 -1.6 -0.5 3.2 3.9

Source: BoG, Ministry of Finance and GSS

Monetary Aggregates Annual Growth Rates (%)

Interest Rate, End of Period (%)

Exchange Rates (End-Period Transac on Rates)  

External Sector (US$’ Million)

*Provisional
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3.2  Monetary Policy

Monetary Policy Committee Meetings

review year. The Monetary Policy Rate (MPR) was cumulatively 
increased by 500 basis points: 100 basis points each in May, 
September and November. In August, the Bank merged the 
monetary policy rate and the reverse repo rate into a new MPR 
which was positioned at 24.0 per cent, effectively increasing 
the MPR by 200 basis points.

Table 3.2: Monetary Policy Decisions in 2015

Note: In August, the MPR which was 22 per cent was merged with the 
reverse repo rate and positioned at 24 per cent. 

Chart 3.1: Developments in the Policy Rate     
(January 2013-December 2015)

February Meeting

deceleration in economic activity attributable to energy supply 
constraints and rising cost of inputs. The Committee also 
observed the decline in commodity prices due to adverse global 

the growth outlook remained tilted to the downside.

had declined to 16.4 per cent in January 2015 on the back of 

expectations.  The Committee, however, noted with concern 
the rising food prices ahead of the lean season as well as the 

pressures in the foreign exchange market. On the other hand, 

and the anticipated programme with the International Monetary 
Fund.

Consequently, the Committee concluded that the risks to 

the MPR at 21.0 per cent.

May Meeting

were largely driven by exchange rate pass-through, anticipated 
upward adjustment in energy prices and utility tariffs as well 
as cost-push factors associated with persistent energy sector 
challenges. 

The Committee also noted that the energy sector challenges, 

doing business could weigh down on growth performance. 

continued commodity price volatility posed considerable risks 

On the basis of the above developments, the Committee 

expectations.

July Meeting

the back of pass-through of currency depreciation and cost-

elevated, the pressures in the outlook for the medium-term were 

Economic growth had moderated but the medium-term outlook 
was positive, though there were potential headwinds including 
continued energy sector challenges, tight credit conditions, 

and production.

Date Decision Rate (%) 

16 – 18 February Policy rate remained unchanged 21.0 

11 – 13 May Policy rate was increased by 100 bps 22.0 

13 – 15 July Policy rate remained unchanged 22.0 

14 – 16 September Policy rate was increased by 100 bps 25.0 

16 – 18 November Policy rate was increased by 100 bps 26.0 
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balanced and therefore decided to maintain the MPR at 22.0 
per cent.

In addition to the policy rate decision, the MPC mandated the 
Bank of Ghana to do the following:

• Merge the MPR with the reverse repo rate within 30 days

• Introduce a 7-day reverse repo instrument in the money 
market

• Open the 2-year Treasury note to non-resident participation 
following a previous agreement with the Ministry of Finance.

September Meeting

per cent in July before moderating to 17.3 per cent in August. 

remained elevated. In assessing the outlook, the Committee 

Regarding domestic growth, the pace of economic activity 
continued to be impaired by challenges in the energy sector, 

Index of Economic Activity for June 2015 signalled a slower 
pace of economic activity compared with similar period in 2014. 

though up, remained subdued. This notwithstanding, growth 
was projected to rebound in the medium-term as the economy 
was expected to rebalance, supported by increased production 
of oil and gas.

and therefore increased the policy rate by 100 basis points to 
25.0 per cent. 

November Meeting

continued its upward trajectory though at a moderate pace. 

expectations remained elevated. The main upside risks in 

conditions and the higher than expected utility tariff adjustments 
in September.

On growth, the Bank’s real Composite Index of Economic Activity 
for September indicated a slower pace compared with similar 
period a year earlier. In the medium-term however, growth 
outcomes were expected to recover, on the back of improved 
electricity supply and increased production of oil and gas.

In the outlook, risks from the global environment had heightened, 
driven mainly by slower growth prospects in China and other 
emerging market economies as well as declining commodity 

increased the policy rate by 100 basis points to 26.0 per cent. 

3.3 Developments in Money, Credit and Interest Rates 

Money Supply

Growth in broad money supply, including foreign currency 
deposits (M2+), decreased to 26.1 per cent from 36.8 per cent 
in 2014. This was mainly due to a decline in foreign currency 
deposits and demand deposits. Foreign currency deposits grew 
by 24.5 per cent compared with 49.1 per cent in 2014. Demand 
deposit rose by 20.7 per cent compared with 40 per cent in 
2014.

Broad money, excluding foreign currency deposits (M2), grew 
by 26.6 per cent compared with 33 per cent in 2014. 

The Net Domestic Assets (NDA) of the banking system increased 
by 26.7 per cent in 2015, compared with a growth of 31.2 per 
cent recorded in 2014. The change in NDA during the review 
period was due to a decline in net claims on Government which 
contracted by 10.5 per cent in 2015 compared with a growth of 
26.6 per cent in 2014. Growth in claims on private sector also 
declined from 41.6 per cent in 2014 to 30.8 per cent in 2015. 
Claims on the public sector shrank by 14.6 per cent in 2015 
compared with a growth of 20.2 per cent in 2014. Other Items 
Net (OIN) also contracted by 23.0 per cent during the period 
under review compared with a growth of 37.7 per cent in 2014.
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As at end-Dec 2013 As at end-Dec 2014 As at end-Dec 2015
Dec-13 Dec-14 Dec-15 abs per cent abs per cent abs per cent

Reserve Money 9,051.1     11,784.6    14,636.3      1,190.7     15.1           2,733.5        30.2            2,851.6       24.2          
Narrow Money (M1) 12,902.5   17,257.6    21,014.4      1,745.2     15.6           4,355.1        33.8            3,756.8       21.8          
Broad Money (M2) 20,692.0   27,530.2    34,857.0      3,188.2     18.2           6,838.2        33.0            7,326.9       26.6          
Broad Money (M2+) 26,937.0   36,843.2    46,451.4      4,316.4     19.1           9,906.1        36.8            9,608.2       26.1          
   Currency with the Public 5,499.7     6,896.3      8,503.7        581.1        11.8           1,396.6        25.4            1,607.4       23.3          
   Demand Deposits 7,402.8     10,361.3    12,510.7      1,164.2     18.7           2,958.4        40.0            2,149.4       20.7          
   Savings & Time Deposits 7,789.5     10,272.6    13,842.6      1,442.9     22.7           2,483.1        31.9            3,570.1       34.8          
   Foreign Currency Deposits 6,245.0     9,313.0      11,594.4      1,128.2     22.0           3,068.0        49.1            2,281.4       24.5          

Sources of M2+

Net Foreign Assets (NFA) 5,700.4     8,991.3      11,151.0      (1,382.4)   (19.5)          3,290.9        57.7            2,159.7       24.0          
   BOG 5,972.7     8,677.8      9,954.3        62.2          1.1             2,705.1        45.3            1,276.6       14.7          
   DMBs (272.3)       313.5         1,196.7        (1,444.6)   (123.2)       585.8           (215.1)         883.2          281.7        

Net Domestic Assets (NDA) 21,236.6   27,851.9    35,300.4      5,698.8     36.7           6,615.3        31.2            7,448.5       26.7          

   Claims on Government (net) 11,326.8   14,344.7    12,841.4      3,610.7     46.8           3,017.9        26.6            (1,503.3)     (10.5)         
       BOG 5,306.2     6,887.7      6,418.7        1,166.7     28.2           1,581.5        29.8            (469.0)         (6.8)           
       DMBs 6,020.6     7,457.0      6,422.6        2,444.0     68.3           1,436.4        23.9            (1,034.4)     (13.9)         

   Claims on Public Sector 4,208.6     5,059.5      4,319.3        2,616.9     164.4         850.8           20.2            (740.2)         (14.6)         
       BOG 2,070.6     2,077.7      2,084.6        1,967.1     1,899.7     7.1                0.3               6.9              0.3             
       DMBs 2,138.1     2,981.8      2,234.7        649.9        43.7           843.7           39.5            (747.1)         (25.1)         

   Claims on Private Sector 15,286.7   21,649.6    28,308.6      3,362.0     28.2           6,362.9        41.6            6,659.0       30.8          
       BOG 529.5        606.9         496.5           82.2          18.4           77.4              14.6            (110.4)         (18.2)         
       DMBs 14,757.2   21,042.7    27,812.1      3,279.8     28.6           6,285.5        42.6            6,769.4       32.2          

   Other Items (Net) (OIN) \2 (9,585.5)    (13,201.9)   (10,168.9)    (3,890.8)   68.3           (3,616.4)       37.7            3,033.0       (23.0)         
       o/w BOG OMO (Sterilisation) (1,125.8)    (1,254.4)     (204.7)          (261.2)       30.2           (128.6)          11.4            1,049.7       (83.7)         

(Year- on- Year)
Levels

Table 3.3: Monetary Indicators (GH¢'Million)

Deposit Money Banks’ (DMBs) Credit 

The annual growth in banks’ outstanding credit to the public and 
private institutions in 2015 showed a decline on year-on-year 
basis. This may be attributed to a slowdown in credit extension 
due to concerns about rising Non-Performing Loans (NPLs). 

In real terms, growth in outstanding credit declined to 6.2 per 
cent in 2015, from 21.4 per cent in 2014. The private sector 
accounted for 87.1 per cent of total outstanding credit compared 
with 87.3 per cent in the same period of 2014.

In terms of sectoral distribution of private sector credit, the 

(16.6%), Electricity, Gas and Water (12.6%), Services (22.4%), 
Construction (10.5%) and Manufacturing (9.0%), which 
collectively accounted for 71.1 per cent in 2015. 

Interest Rates 

The MPR was raised by cumulative 500 bps in the year to 26.0 

on the money market were however mixed. Interest rates on 
the 14-day BOG bill increased by 14.24 percentage points to 
26.0 per cent. The rates on 91-day and 182-day Treasury bills 
declined by 267 bps and 199 bps to 23.12 per cent and 24.4 
per cent respectively. 

The interbank weighted average rate ended the year at 24.94 
per cent, an increase of 131 bps while the average base rate 
of DMBs ended the year at 26.94 per cent. The average lending 
rate of banks, however, declined by 148 bps to 27.50 per cent 
and the average 3-month time deposit rate also increased by 
68 bps to 13.0 per cent. This reduced the spread between the 
borrowing and lending rates to 14.5 per cent at the end of 2015 
compared with 15.1 per cent in 2014.



2015 ANNUAL REPORT • BANK OF GHANA 13

2013 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
Public Sector 2,205.8    3,059.2        3,896.0        38.7 27.4 12.7 12.9
Private Sector 14,757.2  21,042.7      26,237.4      42.6 24.7 87.3 87.1
        Services 3,730.0    4,719.6        5,866.5        26.5 24.3 22.4 22.4
        Commerce & Finance 2,424.2    3,070.7        4,343.3        26.7 41.4 14.6 16.6
        Construc on 1,480.0    2,205.1        2,759.9        49.0 25.2 10.5 10.5
        Miscellaneous 1,149.6    2,184.7        2,548.9        90.0 16.7 10.4 9.7
        Elect.,Gas & Water 1,196.9    2,039.9        3,307.5        70.4 62.1 9.7 12.6
        Manufacturing 1,466.5    1,963.9        2,363.8        33.9 20.4 9.3 9.0
        Import Trade 1,521.3    1,831.6        2,140.9        20.4 16.9 8.7 8.2
        Trans.,Stor., & Comm. 674.0       1,255.0        1,170.1        86.2 -6.8 6.0 4.5
        Agric.,For. & Fish. 535.9       890.1           1,020.7        66.1 14.7 4.2 3.9
        Mining & Quarrying 448.2       655.1           570.9           46.2 -12.9 3.1 2.2
        Export Trade 130.6       226.8           145.0           73.7 -36.1 1.1 0.6
Total Outstanding Credit (Public +Private) 16,963.0  24,101.9      30,133.5      42.1 25.0

Level (GH¢'Million) Change  (%) Share in Total (%)

Chart 3.2: DMBs Savings and Lending Rates (%)

3.4 Stock Market Developments 

Activity on the Ghana Stock Exchange (GSE) slowed in 2015. 
The GSE Composite Index declined by 11.7 per cent in 2015 
compared with a loss of 5.4 per cent in 2014. The weak 
performance of the stock market was attributed to several 
factors including investor preference for higher yielding money 
market instruments and weak macroeconomic fundamentals. 

Total market capitalisation declined by 11.2 per cent to 
GH¢57,116.8 million in 2015, compared with a growth of 5.2 per 
cent recorded in 2014. The decrease in market capitalisation for 
the review period was due to decline in prices of most equities 
particularly during the second half of the year. 

Chart 3.3: GSE Composite Index (Year-on-Year, %)

3.5 Price Developments 

per cent at the end of 2014 to 17.7 per cent at the end of 2015. 

increased from 6.8 per cent in 2014 to 8.0 per cent in 2015. 

cent in 2014 to 23.3 per cent in 2015.

Chart 3.4:  Headline Inflation (Year-on-Year, %)

Table 3.4: Sectoral Distribution of DMBs' Credit
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3.6  Real Sector Performance

Provisional data released by the Ghana Statistical Service 
indicated that the domestic economy registered a growth of 3.9 
per cent in 2015, marginally lower than 4.0 per cent recorded 

energy crisis, lower than expected international commodity 
prices and the persistent exchange rate depreciation. In terms 
of the sectoral contribution to GDP growth in 2015, the services 
sector accounted for 54.4 per cent (51.9% in 2014), followed 
by industry with 25.3 per cent (26.6% in 2014) and agriculture 
with 20.3 per cent (21.5% in 2014).

Table 3.6: GDP Growth Rates by Sector

*Provisional Source: GSS

3.7 Exchange Rate Developments 

The cedi generally depreciated against the major international 
currencies in both the interbank and forex bureau markets 
during the review year. The domestic currency weakened during 

second half of the year the cedi was relatively stable as a result 

from development partners, Eurobond proceeds and cocoa pre-

In the interbank market, the cedi depreciated by 16.1 per cent 
against the US dollar in 2015 compared with 31.2 per cent 
depreciation recorded in 2014. It also depreciated by 11.5 per 
cent against the Pound sterling and 6.2 per cent against the 
Euro.

Developments in the forex bureaux market were similar to those 

half of the year but stabilised in the second half.  

Chart 3.5: Monthly  Exchange Rate Developments of the Cedi (%)

Note: - = depreciation; + = appreciation

Chart 3.6: Monthly Exchange Rate Developments of the Cedi (%)

3.8 Fiscal Developments 

Government budgetary operations for 2015 resulted in an 

against a target of 7.0 per cent of GDP. The domestic primary 

Sector 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015* 

Agriculture  0.8 2.3 5.7 4.6 2.4 

Industry  41.6 11.0 6.6 0.9 1.2 

Services  9.4 12.1 10.0 5.6 5.7 

Real GDP Growth (%) 14.0 9.3 7.3 4.0 3.9 

2.4

1.2

5.7

3.9

Table 3.5: Headline Inflation
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Source: Bank of Ghana and Ministry of Finance

per 
cent of GDP (GH¢3,660.3 million), compared with the target of 
3.6 per cent of GDP (GH¢5,064.4 million) while the net foreign 

Government receipts (including grants) amounted to 
GH¢31,088.3 million (22.2% of GDP), slightly higher than 
the target of GH¢30,526.2 million (21.8% of GDP). The major 
components were Tax revenue of GH¢24,149.7 million (79.1% 
of total revenue), Non-Tax revenue of GH¢4,919.9 million 
(15.3%) and Grants, of GH¢1,729.3 million (5.6%). 

Government payments for the year amounted to GH¢37,344.6 
million (26.7 % of GDP) which was 0.4 per cent below the 
budgeted amount of GH¢37,974.9 million (27.1% of GDP).  
Recurrent expenditure was GH¢31,459.7 million, made up 
of GH¢9,075.3 million interest expenditure and non-interest 
expenditure of GH¢28,269.2 million. Compensation of 
employees amounted to GH¢12,111.2 million representing 38.5 
per cent of recurrent expenditures (41.3% of domestic revenue). 

Capital expenditures were GH¢5,884.9 million (4.2% of GDP), 
compared with a target of GH¢6,401.5 (4.6% of GDP). 

Composition of Domestic Debt

The stock of domestic debt at the end of December 2015 stood 
at GH¢38,828.1 million (29.1% of GDP), showing an increase 
of GH¢4,207.2 million over the end 2014 stock.  The growth 
in the debt stock for the year was the net result of increase of 
GH¢4,558.0 million in the short-term securities and a decrease 
of GH¢350.8 million in medium-term securities.

The growth in the short-term debt stock resulted from increases 
in the 91-day and 182-day Treasury bills of GH¢1,378.5 million 
and GH¢3,656.2 million respectively. This was however, 
moderated by a decrease in the 1-Year Treasury note of 
GH¢476.7 million. Medium-term securities decreased by 
GH¢350.8 million on account of disinvestments of GH¢659.9 
million, GH¢208.2 million, and GH¢202.5 million in 2-year 

Treasury note respectively. The 5-year Treasury bond however, 
increased by GH¢718.4 million.

Table 3.8: Composition of Domestic Debt (GH¢'Million)

Source: Bank of Ghana and Ministry of Finance

Table 3.7: Selected Fiscal Indicators   

2013 2014 2015
Taxes on Income and Property 6,301.7 8,486.6 8,706.5

per cent of GDP 6.6 7.5 6.5
Taxes on Goods and Services 4,833.0 6,434.3 9,935.6

per cent of GDP 5.1 5.7 7.5
Taxes on International Trade 3,173.0 4,308.9 5,507.6

per cent of GDP 3.3 3.8 4.1
Tax Revenue including Oil 14,307.7 19,229.8 24,149.7

per cent of GDP 15.1 17.1 18.1
Tax Revenue excluding Oil 13,550.3 17,879.1 23,721.1

per cent of GDP 15.1 16.7 19.3
NonTax Revenue 4,265.4 4,483.4 4,919.9

per cent of GDP 4.5 4.0 3.7
Domestic Revenue including Oil

Domestic Revenue including Oil

18,732.1 23,931.3 29,359.0
per cent of GDP 19.7 21.3 22.0

17,974.8 22,580.7 28,930.4
per cent of GDP 20.1 21.1 23.5

Grants 739.4 814.1 1,729.3
per cent of GDP 0.8 0.7 1.3

Total Revenue and Grants 19,471.6 24,745.5 31,088.3
per cent of GDP 20.5 22.0 22.2

Compensation of Employees 9,479.1 10,466.8 12,111.2
per cent of GDP 10.1 9.3 9.1

Goods and Services 1,449.1 1,776.6 1,388.2
per cent of GDP 1.5 1.6 1.0

Interest Payments 4,397.0 7,080.9 9,075.3
per cent of GDP 4.6 6.3 6.8

Subsidies 1,158.1 473.7 25.0
per cent of GDP 1.2 0.4 0.0

Non-Financial Assets (Capital Expenditure) 5,742.0 6,095.7 5,884.9
per cent of GDP 6.1 5.4 4.4

Total Expenditure & Net Lending 28,413.8 31,962.2 37,344.6
per cent of GDP 29.9 28.4 26.7

Overall Budget Balance -10,405.4 -11,550.6 -9,438.2
per cent of GDP -11.0 -10.3 -6.7

Net Domestic Financing 7,057.9 6,142.7 3,660.3
per cent of GDP 7.6 5.5 2.6

Domestic Expenditure 20,350.7 20,304.2 23,793.4
per cent of GDP 21.4 18.0 17.8

Domestic Primary Balance -1,618.6 3,627.2 5,565.6
per cent of GDP -1.7 3.2 4.0

Stock of Domestic Debt 26,665.8 34,620.9 38,828.1
per cent of GDP 28.1 30.7 29.1

Nominal GDP (Including Oil) 93,461.0 112,610.6 139,936.0

  2012 2013 2014 2015 
A. SHORT-TERM         

91-Day Treasury Bill 3,573.9  4,620.4  7,939.4  9,317.9  

182-Day Treasury Bill 1,134.4  2,028.7  4,493.4  8,149.6  

1-Year Treasury Note 1,026.6  2,157.3  1,253.3  776.6  
   

SUB-TOTAL (A) 5,734.9  8,806.4  13,686.1  18,244.1  
B. MEDIUM-TERM       

2-Year Fixed Treasury Note 1,715.5  3,643.5  2,746.2  2,086.3  

3-Year Fixed Treasury Note 4,963.7  4,817.2  5,061.4  5,062.8  

3-Year Stock(SBG) 29.9  29.9  0.0  0.0  

3-Year Stock(SSNIT) 370.1  529.4  1,281.8  1,073.6  

3-Year Floating Treasury Note (SADA-UBA) 202.5  202.5  202.5  0.0  

5-Year GOG Bond 1,667.9  2,317.9  2,790.2  3,508.6  

5-year Golden Jubilee Bond 41.1  0.0  0.0  0.0  

7-Year GOG Bond 0.0  201.7  201.7  201.7  

GOG Petroleum Finance Bond 80.0  80.0  80.0  80.0  

TOR Bonds 682.0  682.0  682.0  682.0  

NPRA Stocks 0.0  72.6  0.0  0.0  

SUB-TOTAL (B) 9,752.7  12,576.8  13,045.9  12,695.1  
C. LONG-TERM       

Long Term Government Stocks 2,377.2  4,811.0  7,417.4  7,417.4  

Telekom Malaysia Stocks 109.5  109.5  109.5  109.5  

Revaluation Stock 455.7  361.1  361.1  361.1  

Others Government Stocks 1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0  

SUB-TOTAL (C) 2,943.3  5,282.5  7,888.9  7,888.9  

TOTAL(A+B+C) 18,431.0  26,665.8  34,620.9  38,828.1  
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Holdings of Domestic Debt

Bank of Ghana’s holding of domestic debt as at the end of 2015 
stood at GH¢8,851.2 million, representing 22.8 per cent of the 
total. The Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) held GH¢10,429.1 
million (26.9%), compared with 27.3 per cent for 2014. 
SSNIT holdings decreased to GH¢1,502.6 million (3.9%) from 
GH¢1,563.6 million (4.5%) in 2014. The Insurance Companies 
held GH¢80.9 million (0.2%), while Non-Residents held 
GH¢6,717.4 million (17.3%). ‘Other holders’ held GH¢11,246.8 
million (29.0%).

Table 3.9:  Holdings of Domestic Debt (GH¢'Million)

3.9 External Sector Developments 

The overall balance of payments worsened during the review 

US$85.2 million in 2014. The outturn in 2015 was largely due 

prices of major export commodities.  

Current Account 

(9.5% of GDP) in 2014. This development was the net result 

current transfers accounts and worsening of the trade balance. 

Trade Balance 

The year under review saw reductions in both import and export 
trade compared to levels in 2014. Merchandise imports declined 
as a result of the fall in oil prices. Exports also underperformed 
as a result of the slump in commodity prices on the international 
market, especially oil and gold. Consequently the trade balance 

Merchandise Exports

The value of merchandise exports for the year was US$10,356.7 
million, indicating a decrease of 21.6 per cent compared to the 
outturn in 2014. Falling commodity prices on the international 
market adversely affected earnings from the major exports, 
notably oil and gold. Marginal increases were recorded in the 
exports of cocoa beans and timber while a marginal decrease 
was registered in other exports.

Merchandise Imports

The total value of merchandise imports for 2015 was estimated 
at US$13,465.1 million, showing a decline of 7.8 per cent 
compared with 2014. The marginal decline in imports was 
attributable to the drop in oil imports. 

Non-Oil Imports

The total non-oil merchandise imports was estimated at 
US$11,418.3 million showing a 4.7 per cent rise over the level in 
2014. The upturn was on account of increases in imports under 

goods.

Services, Income and Current Transfers

The Services, Income  and Tranfers Account recorded a surplus 

million recorded in 2014. The Services and Income accounts 

Current Transfer account also recorded improvement in net 

Capital and Financial Account

US$2,731.5 million, representing a decrease of 27.2 per cent 
over the outturn for 2014. The Capital Account recorded an 

US$2,452.1 million showing  a decrease of US$1,300.7 million 

     2012 2013 2014 2015 

A. Banking Sector 8,961.6  13,967.5  18,745.5  19,280.4  

Bank of Ghana 3,769.7  6,280.2  9,293.5  8,851.2  

Deposit Money Banks 5,191.8  7,687.3  9,452.0  10,429.1  

B. Non-bank Sector 4,530.0  6,941.5  9,900.7  12,830.3  

SSNIT 668.5  707.5  1,563.6  1,502.6  

Insurance Companies 46.2  48.5  63.3  80.9  

NPRA 0.0  72.6  0.0  0.0  

Others Holders 3,815.4  6,112.9  8,273.8  11,246.8  

       Rural Banks 424.6  456.0  494.1  567.5  

       Firms & Institutions 2,037.4  3,592.9  5,093.3  6,602.3  

       Individuals 1,353.4  2,064.0  2,686.4  4,077.1  

C. Foreign Sector(Non-Residents) 4,939.4  5,756.7  5,974.7  6,717.4  

TOTAL(A+B+C) 18,431.0  26,665.8  34,620.9  38,828.1  

 Source: Bank of Ghana and Ministry of Finance



2015 ANNUAL REPORT • BANK OF GHANA 17

Descrip on 2012 2013 2014 2015*

A. Current Account -4,910.6 -5,704.0 -3,694.5 -2,808.3
         Merchandise Trade Balance -4,210.8 -3,848.3 -1,383.4 -3,928.9
                Exports (f.o.b) 13,552.4 13,751.9 13,216.8 10,356.7
                     Cocoa Beans & Products 2,828.6 2,267.3 2,612.9 2,763.9
                     Gold 5,643.3 4,965.7 4,388.1 3,212.6
                     Timber & Timber Products 131.0 165.8 185.1 202.1
                     Crude Oil 2,976.1 3,885.1 3,725.0 1,931.3
                     Other Exports 1,973.4 2,468.1 2,305.8 2,246.8
                Imports (f.o.b) -17,763.2 -17,600.2 -14,600.2 -13,465.1
                     Non-Oil -14,432.6 -14,049.8 -10,906.3 -11,418.3
                     Oil -3,330.6 -3,550.5 -3,694.0 -2,046.7
        Net Exports of Goods under Merchan ng -820.5
B. Balance on Services, Income and Transfers -699.8 -1,855.7 -2,311.1 1,120.6
                Services (net) -975.2 -2,443.8 -2,602.1 -345.2
                     Credit 3,259.7 2,454.0 2,044.8 6,098.9
                     Debit -4,234.9 -4,897.8 -4,646.9 -6,444.1
                Income (net) -2,130.0 -1,351.4 -1,717.4 -1,131.9
                     Credit 55.3 284.5 110.8 394.4
                     Debit -2,185.2 -1,635.9 -1,828.2 -1,526.3
                Transfers (net) 2,405.3 1,939.4 2,008.5 2,597.7
                     Private (net)   2,147.5 1,859.2 1,998.9 2,375.3
                     O cial (net) 257.8 80.3 9.6 222.4
C. Financial and Capital Account 3,651.3 5,68.2 3,752.8 2,731.5
      Capital Transfers 283.4 349.3 0.0 279.4
      Direct Investments 3,293.4 3,226.3 3,357.0 2,970.9
      Other Investments 74.4 1,792.6 395.8 -518.8
D. Net Errors and Omissions 48.5 -830.1 -143.6 -29.0
     Overall Balance -1,210.9 -1,165.9 -85.2 -105.8
E. Reserves and Related Items 1,210.9 1,165.9 85.2 105.8
   Changes in Interna onal Reserves 1,210.9 1,165.9 85.2 105.8
      IMF Posi on (net) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
      Holdings of SDR 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
   Foreign Exchange Posi on (net) 1,210.9 1,165.9 85.2 105.8
    Excep onal Financing 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

*Provisional Figures

Table 3.10: Developments in Balance of Payments (in US$ Million)
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International Reserves

The stock of net international reserves at the end of 2015 was 
US$3,093.7 million, indicating a drawdown of US$105.8 million 
for the year. Gross foreign assets increased to US$5,884.7 
million at the end of 2015 from US$5,461.0 million at the end of 

compared with 3.8 months at the end of 2014.

Chart 3.7: Gross Foreign Assets and Import Cover

3.10 External Debt

Ghana’s external debt stock as at end-2015 was estimated 
at US$15,781.9 million, showing an increase of 8.5 per cent 
over the end-2014 level. Debt sustainability indicators showed 
that Ghana’s external debt was sustainable at the end of 2015. 
External debt-to-GDP ratio stood as 40.5 per cent, which is 
within the policy threshold of 50.0 per cent of GDP.

In terms of composition, debt from multilateral sources had 
the dominant share of 32.5 per cent. This was followed by 
debt from international capital markets (23.2%), commercial 
creditors (18.1%), export credits (7.4%) bilateral  creditors 
(7.0%) and other concessional (11.8%). 

2012 2013 2014 2015 Policy   
Threshold

External Debt (US$ million) 9,153.6 11,901.9 13,871.8 15,781.9

External Debt Stock/GDP (%) 21.7 27 33.4 43.3 50
External Debt Service/Exports of Goods and Services 3.2 2.2 5.2 11.6 25
External Debt Service/Domestic Revenue 7.4 6.8 10.9 22
External Debt Service/GDP 1.4 0.8 2 3.4

Table 3.11: Selected External Debt Indicators (US$'Million)
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CHAPTER 4: DEVELOPMENT IN BANKS AND NON-BANK  
   FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

4.1 Overview

The banking sector, continued to be safe, sound and stable 

due to increasing non-performing assets. One DMB, four (4) 
NBFIs and seventy-four (74) MFIs were licensed to operate. 
HFC Bank Ghana Limited became a foreign-controlled bank 
following the acquisition of majority shares by the Republic 
Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.

4.2  Banks and Non-Bank Financial Institutions

Structure

At the end of the year, 29 DMBs, 62 NBFIs, 139 RCBs and 
546 MFIs as well as three (3) credit reference bureaux were in 
operation. The DMBs comprised 12 Ghanaian-controlled and 17 
foreign-controlled banks. The DMBs operated 1,173 branches 
and 912 ATMs distributed across the ten (10) regions of the 
country with a total staff strength of 19,846 compared with 
19,849 in 2014. 

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets of the industry (DMBs, RCBs, NBFIs and MFIs) 
grew by 23.3 per cent to GH¢74,381.1 million at the end of 
2015. The twenty nine (29) DMBs accounted for 85.1 per cent 
of the industry’s assets compared with 85.2 per cent in 2014.  

& Advances and Investments which increased respectively 
by 21.4 per cent and 22.4 per cent compared with increases 
of 40.0 per cent and 69.2 per cent in 2014. The expansion in 
total assets was funded from increases in deposits (27.6%) 
Shareholders’ Funds (22.5%) and Borrowings (12.1%).  

increased slightly from a share of 63.0 per cent of total assets 
in 2014 to 64.5 per cent in 2015.

The ratio of total earning assets (Loans & Advances and 
Investments) to total assets was 65.9 per cent compared to 
66.7 per cent in 2014. 

 2014 2015   
 DMBs RCBs NBFIs MFIs TOTAL DMBs RCBs NBFIs MFIs TOTAL CHANGE  

 GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M GH¢M 
% 

CHANGE 
             
             
TOTAL ASSETS 51,445.0 2,099.5 5,844.3 958.8 60,347.6 63,303.7 2,551.5 7,277.0 1,248.9 74,381.1 14,033.5 23.3 
Cash and Bank 
Balances 14,017.5 313.5 633.2 173.8 15,138.0 16,776.3 346.5 761.4 274.4 18,158.6 3,020.6 20.0 
Investments 11,875.3 649.7 1,335.8 59.2 13,920.0 14,289.7 913.9 1,719.5 120.6 17,043.8 3,123.8 22.4 
Loans & Advances 22,212.7 777.5 2,875.9 481.1 26,347.2 27,094.7 871.6 3,455.4 551.7 31,973.5 5,626.3 21.4 
Other Assets and PPE 3,339.5 358.8 999.4 244.7 4,942.4 5,142.9 419.4 1,340.7 302.2 7,205.2 2,262.9 45.8 
             
LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS' 
FUND 51,445.0 2,099.5 5,844.3 958.8 60,347.6 63,303.7 2,551.5 7,277.0 1,248.9 74,381.1 14,033.5 23.3 
Liabilities 44,074.5 1,817.3 4,904.0 751.0 51,546.8 54,150.2 2,215.7 6,249.5 984.9 63,600.3 12,053.5 23.4 
    Deposits 32,413.8 1,604.5 3,053.8 520.6 37,592.7 41,258.8 1,993.4 3,979.2 719.5 47,950.9 10,358.3 27.6 
    Borrowings and other    
Liabilities 11,660.7 212.8 1,850.2 230.4 13,954.1 12,891.4 222.3 2,270.2 265.4 15,649.3 1,695.2 12.1 
Shareholders' Funds 7,370.5 282.2 940.2 207.8 8,800.7 9,153.4 335.8 1,027.6 264.0 10,780.8 1,980.0 22.5 
    Paid-Up Capital 2,652.9 73.5 669.3 215.4 3,611.1 3,201.2 102.4 840.9 285.7 4,430.3 819.2 22.7 
    Reserves 4,717.6 208.7 271.0 (7.6) 5,189.7 5,952.2 233.4 186.7    ( 21.7) 6,350.5 1,160.8 22.4 

Table 4.1: Assets and Liabilities of Banks and NBFIs

Deposit Money Banks (DMBs)

The total assets of DMBs amounted to GH¢63,303.7 million, 
an increase of 23.1 per cent over the previous year. The growth 

bank balances. The growth was mainly funded by deposits.
high interest costs, high non-performing loans (NPL) which led 
to high provision for bad debts and high operating costs as a 
result of the energy supply shortfalls.
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Solvency

In the review year, the DMBs remained solvent and generally 
complied with the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 
10.0 per cent. The DMBs’ CAR as at end-2015 was 17.8 per 
cent compared with 17.9 per cent in 2014.  The networth of 
DMBs increased by 22.5 per cent to GH¢10,780.8 million as at 
end-2015, mainly on account of growth in reserves and paid-up 
capital by 22.4 per cent and 22.7 per cent respectively. 

Non-performing loans (NPL) ratios of DMBs deteriorated in 
2015. The NPL ratio (including the loss category) increased 
to 14.7 per cent at end 2015 from 11.0 per in 2014, mainly 
on account of the general slowdown in economic activity and 
challenges posed by the worsening energy crisis. Adjusting for 
the fully provisioned loan loss, the NPL ratio stood at 6.8  per 
cent in 2015, compared with 5.3 per cent in 2014. 

Table 4.3 Banking System Indicators (%)

Liquidity

DMBs were generally liquid in 2015 but relatively tight compared 
with 2014. With the exception of a few, DMBs complied with 
the Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) requirement, with actual  CRR 
of 10.38 per cent compared with the mandatory minimum 
requirement of 10 per cent.

money market instruments for liquidity management purposes. 
During the year, 65.1 per cent of the total deposits mobilised 
were invested in short-term instruments compared with 62.5 
per cent in 2014. 

Table 4.4 Selected Liquidity Indicators of DMBs (%)

Non-Bank Financial Institutions

The assets of NBFIs (excluding MFIs) constituted 9.8 per cent of 
total assets of the industry, an increase of 0.1 percentage point 
over the 2014 position. Total assets of NBFIs increased by 24.5 

mainly in loans and advances (20.2%) and Investments (28.7%). 
The growth in total assets was funded by deposits, borrowings 
and shareholders’ funds which increased by 30.3 per cent, 22.7 
per cent and 9.3 per cent respectively. 

Rural and Community Banks

Total assets of RCBs represented 3.4 per cent of total assets 
of the industry, almost the same as in 2014. The assets grew 
by 21.5 per cent to GH¢2551.48 million. The growth in assets 

and other assets, plant property & equipment (16.9%). The 
assets of RCBs were funded by deposits and shareholders’ 
funds which increased by 24.2 per cent and 19.0 per cent 
respectively. 

The total assets of MFls constituted 1.7 per cent of total assets 
of the industry in 2015 compared with 1.6 per cent in 2014. 
The assets of MFIs increased by 30.3 per cent to GH¢1,248.93 
million in 2015. The main components of total assets of the 
MFIs were loans & advances which increased by 14.7 per cent 
to GH¢551.73 million and cash & bank balances which also 
grew by 103.8 per cent to GH¢274.36 million. The growth in 
assets was funded mainly by deposits which increased by 38.2 
per cent to GH¢719.50 million and shareholders’ funds which 
also grew by 27.0 per cent to GH¢264.01 million. 

Credit Referencing

The usage of credit bureaux services among the banks and 

total of 2,008,170 searches compared with 948,360 searches 
in 2014. 

Table 4.2 Profitability Indicators (%)

 2012 2013 2014 2015 

CAR 19.1 18.5 17.9 17.8 

NPL(including loss category) 13.2 12 11.0 14.7 

NPL (Adjusting for fully provisioned 
loan loss) 

6.8 4.6 5.4 6.8 

Indicators 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Liquid Assets to Total Assets 34.8 37.6 39.4 41.8 

Liquid Assets to Total Deposits 50.1 58.3 62.5 64.1 

Liquid Assets to Short -Term Borrowings 592.0 328.0 315.8 371.7 

Current Loans Ratio 83.3 84.0 83.9 78.9 

Past Due Loans Ratio 16.7 16.0 16.1 21.1 

Indicators 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Return on Equity 25.8 30.9 33.1 22.2 

Return on Assets 4.8 6.2 6.6 4.6 

Return on Earning Assets 6.5 8.1 8.7 6.2 

Net Interest Spread (NIS) 10.3 11.5 12.6 12.5 

Cost to Income Ratio 53.8 48.2 48.4 53.2 

Net Interest Margin (NIM) 10.9 12.6 13.4 13.8 
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4.3  Stability of the Financial System

developments such as falling commodity prices, economic 

banking sector’s capacity to withstand these shocks generally 
improved.

Macro-Financial Stress Tests 

banking sector in June and December 2015 to assess the 
resilience of the banking system to systemic and tail risks. The 

and loss accounts to extreme but plausible shocks covering 
credit, liquidity, market concentration and contagion risks to the 
system.

The outcome of the tests indicated that the sector remained 
broadly robust with increasing capacity to withstand shocks in 
December 2015 compared with June.

Chart 4.1: Systemic Risk Assessment Map1

The result indicated that:

• Loans remained the key source of credit in the Ghanaian 
banking system.

• The provisioning approach (loan migration analysis) to credit 
risk revealed a less resilient banking industry to credit shock.

• Concentration risk relating to single largest borrower was 
moderate.

• Exchange rate risk remained tamed in the banking sector 
on account of exisitng regulation on net open position 
requirements.

• Interest rate volatilities had relatively muted impact on the 
banking system as a whole.

• The industry was resilient to liquidity stress testing emanating 
from withdrawal of the largest depositors’ funds.

• 

Banks’ Counterparty Relationships

system; the sector is dominated by foreign-owned banks which 

Table 4.5  : Market Shares of Foreign Banks

Banks’ offshore balances recorded an 11.0 per cent growth in 
2015 compared with 73.9 per cent increase in 2014 indicating 
declining exposure to external counterparties.

Similarly, offshore placements saw year-on-year growth of 

offshore activities by banks.

However, short-term funding of DMBs grew more than their 
long-term external funding, a phenomenon that was not 

external borrowing decreased from 175.9 per cent in 2014 to 
27.4 per cent in 2015.

Consumer Protection

growth, fused with the relatively low level of illiteracy in Ghana, 

protection and redress mechanisms. In 2015, consumer 
protection activities carried out included:

• Reception of complaints, petitions and grievances from 
customers.

• 
defalcation.

• 
inclusion.

• 
institutions complied with the provisions of the Credit Report 
Act, 2007 (Act 726).

1

in the ability to withstand shocks.

BANKS Number 

Market 
Share 
(%) Number

Market 
Share 
(%) Number

Market 
Share 
(%)

Foreign 14 58.2 14 53.9 17 54.6
Europe 3 18.1 3 15.7 3 25.8

Britain 2 14.7 2 12.5 2 20.3
France 1 3.4 1 3.3 1 5.5

Pan Africa 10 39.7 10 37.8 12 68.9
Others 1 0.4 1 0.4 2 5.3

Domestic 12 41.8 13 46.1 12 45.4
State Owned 3 18.5 4 19 3 33.3

Private 9 23.3 9 27.2 9 66.7
Total 26 100.0 27 100.0 29 100.0

Dec-15Dec-13 Dec-14
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Financial Integrity

In collaboration with the IMF, the Bank commenced the 
development of a Risk Rating Matrix Framework for the Savings 
and Loans sector in Ghana. 

Activities carried out during the year under review included:

• The upgrade of the existing Anti-Money Laundering/ 
Combating the Financing of Terrorism (AML/ CFT) offsite and 
onsite manual to be in line with the revised Financial Action 
Task Force (FATF) Forty (40) recommendations of February 
2012.

• The enhancement of awareness of key AML/ CLT concepts 
and emerging money laundering typologies among Anti-

and Non-Bank Financial Institutions (NBFIs).

• Addressing of issues impacting the implementation of the 
AML/ CFT regime in Ghana.

4.4 Developments in the Payment    
and Settlement Systems

In 2015, the major developments in the payment and settlement 
systems in Ghana were the launching of E-Money and Agent 
Guidelines, Product/Service Development and improvements in 
Non-Cash Payment Streams.

Launching of E-Money and Agent Guidelines 

As part of the Bank's strategy of creating a congenial regulatory 
environment for safe electronic retail payments and funds 
transfer, two guidelines were launched, namely: Guidelines for 
E- Money Issuers in Ghana and the Agents Guidelines in July 
2015. 

The E-Money Issuers Guidelines were aimed at promoting 

non-bank entities only.

The Agent Guidelines were issued to regulate the use of agents 

safeguards and controls to mitigate the associated risks and 
also ensure consumer protection. 

Following the issuance of the guidelines, new institutions 
emerged and new products and services were delivered through 

An example of this collaboration was the opportunity for 
e-money holders to withdraw money from ATMs of selected 

Product/Service Development 

GhIPSS Instant Pay (GIP) and Gh-LinkTM eCommerce.

In August, GhIPSS launched two services, namely, the gh-
linkTM Internet Payment Gateway and GhIPSS Instant Payment 
Services, to serve as an infrastructure for fast, reliable and 

time account-based interbank funds transfer while the gh-link 
eCommerce gateway enables merchants and service providers 
to accept payments online. 

Ecobank Capital Advisors TBILL4ALL

Ecobank Capital Advisors (ECA), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of Ecobank Ghana Limited, in collaboration with 
MTN got approval from Bank of Ghana to sell Treasury bills on 
the MTN mobile money platform with the view to facilitating 
mobilisation of funds from the informal sector.

The platform serves as a channel to transmit customers’ 
Treasury bill requests from their phones to the TBill4All 
database application system. It also enables transfers between 
customers’ mobile money wallets and ECA mobile money 
wallets for Treasury bill purchases and rediscounts. Instruments 
that are available on the mobile money platform are 91-day 
Treasury bills and 182-day Treasury bills.

The service allows customers to remotely register, apply, 
purchase, rediscount and redeem Treasury bills.  

Trends in Non-Cash Payment Streams

Ghana Interbank Settlement (GIS) System

The GIS system which is Ghana’s real time gross settlement 
system, continued to provide the platform for making high value 
and time-critical payments for banks and their customers.

The volume of GIS transactions increased by 13.5 per cent 
to 794,282 in 2015 while the value rose by 36.2 per cent to 
GH¢1,032,544.0  million. The average value per transaction 
was GH¢1.3 million in 2015.

Table 4.6: Consumer Protection

 2014 2015  

Type of Report Number 
Share of 
Total (%) Number 

Share of 
Total (%) 

 
% Increase 

Consumer Complaints 
Reporting 281 30.4 605 34.1 

 
115.3 

Fraud and Defalcation 
Reporting 195 21.1 396 22.3 

 
103.1 

Enforcement and 
Surveillance 447 48.4 772 43.5 

 
72.7 

TOTAL 923 100 1,773 100 
 

92.1 
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Cheque Codeline Clearing (CCC)

Cheque Codeline Clearing is an electronic system for clearing 
cheques using the cheque image and codeline data. 

The volume and value of interbank cheques cleared through the 
CCC system in 2015 went up by 2.6 per cent to 7,146,259 
and 15.4 per cent to GH¢131,189.7 million respectively. 
Consequently the average value increased by 12.4 per cent to 
GH¢18,357.81 compared with 36.8 per cent in 2014. 

TABLE 4.8: Cheque Codeline Clearing

Chart 4.3: Cheque Codeline Clearing

Ghana Automated Clearing House (GACH)

GACH is an electronic payment system which receives, 
processes and clears payments in the form of Direct Credit and 
Direct Debit on behalf of banks. 

Direct Credit

The volume of transactions cleared through the direct credit 
system rose by 17.8 per cent to 4,668,636 in 2015. The 
total value of direct credit transfers was GH¢15,075.1 million 
compared with GH¢10.8 billion for 2014. The average value 
increased by 18.3 per cent to GH¢3,229.0; with payment of 
SSNIT pensions by Bank of Ghana on behalf of Government 
being the major contributor to this growth. 

TABLE 4.9: ACH Direct Credit Transactions

Chart 4.4: ACH Direct Credit Transactions

Direct Debit

The total volume of direct debit transactions rose by 102.6 per 
cent to 692,615 in 2015 while the total value increased by 125.3 
per cent to GH¢70.9 million. The average value was GH¢102.4 
in 2015 compared with GH¢92.1 in 2014.

Table 4.10: ACH Direct Debit Transactions

Table 4.7: GIS Transactions

Chart 4.2: GIS Transactions

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Change  

2015 
(%) 

Volume 360,954 467,642 586,200 699,956 794,282 
   

13.5 

Value (GH¢'million) 289,818.2 331,320.9 470,375.1 758,312.2 1,032,544.0 
   

36.2  
Average Value per 
Transaction (GH¢) 

   
802,922.8  

   
708,492.6  

   
802,414.0  

   
1,083,371.2  

   
1,299,971.6  

   
20.0  

  
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Change  
2015  

(%) 

Volume 6,509,594 6,710,475 6,796,712 6,962,297 7,146,259 
  

2.6  
Value 
(GH¢million) 53,160.9 69,222.1 81,144.3 113,698.4 

   
131,189.7  

  
15.4  

Average Value 
per Transaction 
(GH¢) 8,166.6 10,315.5 11,938.8 16,330.6 18,357.8 

  
12.4  

 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Change  

2015  
(%) 

Volume 420,478 1,325,533 2,378,997 3,963,802 4,668,636 
   

17.8  
Value 
(GH¢'million) 1,302.6 3,690.0 6,332.7 10,815.2 15,075.1 

   
39.4  

Average Value per 
Transaction (GH¢) 3,097.9 2,783.8 2,661.9 2,728.5 3,229.1 

   
18.3  

 2013 2014 2015 
Change  

2015  
(%) 

Volume 172,908 341,875 692,615 
   

102.6 

Value (GH¢’million) 22.8 31.5 70.9 
   

125.3  
Average Value per Transaction 
(GH¢) 131.9 92.1 

   
102.4  

   
11.2  
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Chart 4.5: ACH Direct Debit Transactions 

e-Zwich Transactions

e-zwich is an interoperable biometric smart card payment 

a suite of electronic payment and banking services accessible 
from Point of Sales (POS) terminals and ATMs. 

The number of e-zwich card holders increased by 26.3 per cent 
to 1,369,369 in 2015 while the volume of transactions shot up 
by 260.1 per cent to GH¢2,251,101. Total value of transactions 
also grew by 238.5 per cent to GH¢922.9 million compared 
with 25.4 per cent growth in 2014. 

to Government decision to use the system to pay caterers of 

Livelihood Empowerment Against Poverty (LEAP) and personnel 
of the National Service Scheme. 

Table 4.11: Selected Indicators of e-zwich Usage

Chart 4.6: e-Zwich Volume and Value of Transactions

GhIPSS gh-linkTM 

The gh-linkTM is Ghana’s national switch which facilitates ATMs 
and POS interoperability. At the end of 2015, a total of thir ty-
three (33) member institutions were connected to the gh-linkTM 

companies and one (1) switch operator. The total number of 
gh-linkTM transactions recorded in 2015 was 1,899,645 with 
a value of GH¢305.1 million compared with 1,346,963 with a 
value of GH¢183.3 million in 2014.

Table 4.12: gh-LinkTM  Transactions

Chart 4.7: gh-linkTM Transactions

 

Indicators 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Change  

2015  
(%) 

Total Number of Cards 
Issued 676,779 792,966 903,724 1,084,121 1,369,369 

   
26.3  

Cards with Value (% of 
total) 40.2 43.4 43 38.7 44.8 

   
15.7  

Value on Cards (GH¢) 6,170,553 8,120,680 8,141,135 8,764,310 29,016,267 
   

231.1  

Average Value Per 
Card (GH¢) 22.7 23.6 21 20.9 47.3 

   
126.5  

Volume of 
Transactions 995,140 1,147,418 814,441 625,167 2,251,101 

   
260.1  

Value of Transactions 
(GH¢million) 176.2 217.8 217.2 272.7 922.9 

   
238.5  

 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Change  

2015  
(%) 

Volume 10,295 549,456 1,346,963 1,899,645 
   

41.0  

Value (GH¢'million) 1.1 67.5 183.3 305.1 
   

66.5  
Average Value per 
Transaction (GH¢) 

   
106.9  

   
122.9  

   
136.1  

  
160.6  

   
18.0  
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Table 4.13: Mobile Money Service 

Indicators 2012 2013 2014 2015 
Change 

2015 
(%) 

Total number of mobile phone 
subscribers 25,618,427 28,026,482 30,360,771 

   
35,008,387 

   
15.3  

Registered mobile money 
customers 3,778,374 4,393,721 7,167,542 13,120,367 

   
83.1  

Active mobile money customers1 345,434 991,780 2,526,588 4,868,569 
   

92.7  

Registered Agents 8,660 17,492 26,889 79,747 
   

196.6  

Active Agents2 5,900 10,404 20,722 56,270 
   

171.6  
Total volume of mobile money 
transactions  18,042,241 40,853,559 113,179,738 266,246,537 

   
135.2  

Total value of mobile money 
transactions (GH¢’Million) 594.1 2,652.5 12,123.9 35,444.4 

   
192.4  

Balance on Float (GH¢’Million) 19.6 62.8 223.3 547.9 
   

145.4  

Source: National Communications Authority (NCA),
1The number of customers who transacted at least once in the 90 days prior to reporting
2The number of agents who transacted at least once in the 30 days prior to reporting

Chart 4.8: Mobile Money TransactionsMobile Money Services

The Electronic-money and Agents Guidelines launched in July 
2015 replaced the Branchless Banking Guidelines 2008 and 
transformed the mobile money landscape in Ghana. In 2015, 
four mobile network operators offered mobile money services.

The number of registered mobile money customers rose by 
83.1 per cent to 13,120,367 in 2015. The number of active 
mobile money customers also increased by 92.7 per cent to 
4,868,569. The number of active agents of the four mobile 
network operators in the review year stood at 56,270. The 
value of mobile money transactions grew by 192.4 per cent to 

2015 was GH¢547.9 million, indicating a growth 145.4 per cent 
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CHAPTER 5: INTERNAL DEVELOPMENTS
5.1 Overview

In the review year, the Bank continued to focus on human 
resource development, improvement in information security, 
and the upgrade of physical infrastructure to enhance its 
operations. The Bank adopted ISO31000:2009 standard as 
its enterprise risk management framework and embarked 
on a major recruitment exercise to boost its regulatory and 
supervisory capacity. On infrastructure, an ultramodern cash 
centre was inaugurated while work progressed steadily on other 
projects. During the year, the Bank introduced new guidelines 
and regulations to guide the operations of the payments system.

5.2 Collateral Registry

Patronage of the Registry improved in 2015 with a total of 
25,216 charges (secured loans) being registered, compared 

institutions2 dominated registration in terms of volume of 
charges, registering 16,962. This was followed by universal 

rural and community banks with 1,139. The rest were money 

Breakdown of the borrowers whose collaterals were registered 
indicated that, 18,034 were individuals, 4,751 SMEs and 2,110 
large scale enterprises. The remaining borrowers were 305 
associations/unions and 16 government institutions.

The value of charges registered at the Registry amounted to 
GH¢150.4 billion. Out of this, an amount of GH¢ 128.9 billion 
(representing 85.8%) was granted to large scale enterprises 
while GH¢17.1 billion (representing 11.4%) was received by 
government institutions. SMEs and individuals received GH¢3.1 
billion (2.1%) and GH¢1.06 billion (0.7%) respectively. The 
remaining GH¢0.2 billion (0.12%) was received by associations 
and unions.

The volume of renewals increased in 2015 to 4,090 from 3,726 
in 2014, representing an increase of 9.76 per cent. A total of 
7,849 searches were conducted in 2015, compared with 6,819 

clients while 85 were done by unregistered members of the 
public.

5.3 Health

During the year, work progressed steadily on the construction 
of an ultramodern 60-bed capacity hospital. The Medical 
Department undertook a vigorous health education programme 
on diabetes in all the departments of the Bank. It carried out 
health inspections at the Bank’s premises and also organised 
capacity building workshops for the Health Promotion 
Champions of the Bank. A number of health walks and outdoor 
activities were also undertaken. 

5.4 Human Resource Activities

The total staff strength of the Bank at the end of 2015 was 
1,643, up from 1,618. The categorisation of staff by grade and 
gender was as follows:

Table 5.1: Staff Position

During the year 95 new staff were recruited. A total of 70 
members of staff exited the service of the Bank made up of 52 
retirements, 5 resignations, 2 end of contracts, 4 terminations, 
and 7 deaths.

A total of 63 transfers including 35 inter-regional transfers were 
also made. 

5.5 Training

The Bank’s training programme was aimed at:
• Providing job related knowledge and skills to members of 

staff in both core and non-core functional areas of the Bank
• Bringing about improvement in attitude of staff towards work
• Preparing members of staff for higher responsibilities in the 

Bank

Local Programmes

In 2015, the Bank executed a total of 90 training programmes, 
attended by 1,664 staff members. These comprised 31 in-house 
programmes and 59 other local programmes. A total of 1,208 
members of staff participated in the in-house programmes 

2

companies.                                                                                                                                          

 Male Female Total % of Total 

Management Staff 

o/w Heads of Department 

144 

14 

51 

8 

195 

22 

11.9 

Middle Level Staff 500 392 892 54.3 

Junior Staff 439 117 556 33.8 

Total 1,083 560 1,643  
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Foreign Programmes

A total of 495 members of staff participated in training 
programmes held in over 50 countries.

Table 5.2: Training Programmes

5.6 Currency Management

In December 2015, the Bank inaugurated its newly-constructed 
ultra-modern cash centre at the General Service Complex in 
Accra.

The cash centre together with a new Enterprise Cash 
Management software (ECM), comes with the following:

• Multiple loading bays, 

• Additional storage capacity for banknotes, 

• Increased banknote processing and destruction capacities, 

• Secured barcoded sealed trays to facilitate traceability of 
cash

• Pre-advertisement of cash activity to ensure good scheduling 
of cash transactions between the DMBs and the Bank of 
Ghana. 

In effect, the new cash centre and the deployment of the ECM 
would improve the turnaround time in respect of currency 
transactions with the DMBs and enhance the quality of service 
delivery to stakeholders. 

The cash centre also hosts the Bank’s disaster recovery site.

5.7 Risk Management

The Bank is committed to ensuring that effective risk 
management remains central to all its activities and is a core 
management competency. The aim is to ensure that risk 
management is embedded in its processes and culture to 
facilitate the achievement of its mandate.

A revised enterprise risk management policy was issued in 
June 2015 to enhance the Bank’s enterprise risk management 
approach and sharpen its effectiveness. 

Enterprise Risk Management 

In the review year, the Bank’s risk governance activities covered 
enterprise risk management, business continuity, information 
security management and strategic planning.

The Bank formally adopted ISO 31000:2009 as its ERM 
standard. Consequently it expanded the coverage of its risk 

in risk and controls described in departmental risk registers and 
operational manuals.

Emerging risks in some major capital projects of the Bank, the 
domestic currency exchange rate volatility, the local power 

and evaluated for timely controls.

Business Continuity 

During the year, a new emergency operations centre and a 
state-of-the-art backup data centre were completed to further 
strengthen the capability of the Bank to ensure continuity of 
operations during disruptive or disaster situations.

Business continuity plans were also updated and tested in the 

operations in banking and currency management.

Strategic Planning and Implementation

The Bank conducted a review of its 7-year Strategic Plan 
(2011-2017) during the year. It also initiated plans to adopt 
the Balanced Scorecard approach to strategic planning and 
monitoring, re-model the existing strategic plan and draw a new 
one based on the balanced scorecard in 2017.

Information Security Management

The Bank implemented the following to augment its information 
security management: 

• The Radware Perimeter Defense Solution to enhance 
protection of its systems from external intrusion 

• The Portnox Network Access Control solution to augment its 
internal systems security.

• 

• Hosted ISO 27001:2013 surveillance audit in September to 
complete successful transition from ISO 27001:2005 to ISO 
27001:2013 

5.8  Regional Branch Activities

Sunyani was completed in 2015. A workshop was organised 
for MMDA’s in September in the Volta Region to educate them 
on measures being introduced at the Bank to forestall cheque 
cloning and other fraudulent activities.

Programmes Number of Participants 

Foreign Courses 495 

Local Courses 1,664 

     In-house 1,208 

     Others 456 



2015 ANNUAL REPORT • BANK OF GHANA 29

CHAPTER 6: EXTERNAL RELATIONS

6.1 Overview

External co-operation between the Bank of Ghana, regional and 

despite the global economic challenges. The Bank held meetings 
with multilateral institutions including the IMF, the World Bank 
and the African Development Bank. The Bank was also involved 

the Africa and ECOWAS levels. 

6.2 The 2015 Spring and Annual Meetings of the IMF and 
World Bank

The 2015 Spring Meetings were held in Washington D.C. from 
April 17-19, while the Annual Meetings were held in Lima, Peru 
from October 9-11, 2015.

The International Monetary and Financial Committee 
(IMFC)

The IMFC noted at the meetings the continued but modest 
and uneven growth in the global economy, amidst increased 

medium-term growth prospects. However, recovery in advanced 
countries was expected to pick up modestly, supported by lower 
commodity prices, continued accommodative monetary policies 

central banks’ objectives.  

In the light of the above, the IMFC urged members to take 
further measures to lift actual and potential growth, preserve 

stability risks, support trade and refrain from all forms of 
protectionism and competitive devaluations. It stressed the 
need to identify new sources of growth, address supply 
bottlenecks, infrastructure gaps, and ageing population, and 
promote inclusive environmentally sustainable growth. 

Development Committee 

The Development Committee noted the weakness in global 
growth and the downside risks despite continued moderate 
recovery in high-income countries. On developing countries, 

and renewed weakness in commodity prices continued to 

Group (WBG) and the IMF to monitor risks and vulnerabilities 
closely, to enhance their assistance to countries to support 
growth and build resilience. It also called for targeted support, 
in collaboration with the UN and other partners, in addressing 
the challenges of countries and regions affected by refugee and 

states.

Furthermore, the Committee urged the WBG and the IMF 
to scale up their support to developing countries to improve 

IMF Missions to Ghana

There were two key IMF missions to Ghana during the year, 

(ECF) programme with the IMF; while the second mission, in 
October, held discussions on the second review of the same 
programme.

performance criteria, except for the ceiling on central bank 

a small margin. It also welcomed the commitment reiterated 

structural reforms programme, in particular in addressing 

and transparency and liberalising the oil distribution sector. The 
team however observed that more needed to be done to further 
enhance tax administration and eliminate tax exemptions to 
improve the revenue performance over the medium-term. 

Bank of Ghana to improve the effectiveness of its monetary 
policy framework and in moving the policy rate towards the 
interbank market rates. The mission also welcomed the resolve 
of the central bank to take additional measures as needed to 

would also contribute to stabilising the cedi.

The second mission found implementation of the programme 
satisfactory with all end-August 2015 performance criteria met, 

taken by the government in addressing payroll irregularities and 

with tight monetary policy should help restore macroeconomic 
stability, while the recent build-up of foreign exchange reserves 
should also contribute to reducing the volatility of the cedi.
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African Consultative Group (African Caucus)

The African Consultative Group Meeting held alongside the 
Spring Meetings, was co-chaired by Mr. Armando Manuel, 
Chairman of the African Caucus and Ms. Christine Lagarde, 
Managing Director of the IMF. 

The meeting discussed short to medium-term prospects 
for Africa and highlighted the policy challenges as well as 
the continued opportunities to exploit. The Group noted that 
economic outlook remained promising. While declining oil 

Countries were urged to continue with their efforts to preserve 
macroeconomic stability and build resilience. The Group 
expressed the hope that there would be concerted efforts to 
restore peace and stability in countries that had been affected 

6.3 Association of African Central Banks (AACB)

The Assembly of Governors of the Association of African 
Central Banks (AACB) held its 38th Ordinary Meeting in August 
in Malabo, Equatorial Guinea. The meeting was preceded by 
a symposium on the theme: “Independence of Central Banks: 
Myth or Reality”. 

The Assembly discussed two presentations on “African Institute 
for Remittances (AIR)” and “Afreximbank’s Central Bank 
Deposit Programme (CENDEP)”. The Governors took note of 
the request by the African Union Commission (AUC) for central 
bank support and collaboration with the African Institute for 
Remittances (AIR). They also took note of the offer by the AIR 
for the Association to be a permanent member of its Governing 
Board and Consultative Forum.

The Assembly also: 

• Adopted the Study Report and the Joint AUC-AACB Strategy 
for the creation of the African Central Bank (ACB) and 
reiterated that sub-regions should be the building blocks 
of the continental monetary integration to speed up the 
process of monetary integration at the sub-regional levels.

• 
meeting the AMCP’s primary criteria due to the negative 
impact of the global economic conditions. They directed 
that an Expert Group drawn from central banks of the 

and its harmonisation at the sub-regional and continental 
levels within a period of one year. 

• Supported the recommendations of the Bureau for an 
additional seat on the IMF Board and requested the AACB 
Chairperson to advocate this position at the African Caucus 
Meeting in August 2015 in Angola and at other fora such as 
the Annual Meetings of the IMF and the Africa/US Forum.

• Elected Mr. Luca Abaga Nchama, Governor of the Banque 
des Etats de l’Afrique Centrale (BEAC), and Mr. Godwin 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman respectively of AACB for 

6.4 African Development Bank (AfDB)

The AfDB held its Annual Meeting and the 41st meeting of 
the African Development Fund (ADF) in May in Abidjan, Côte 
d’Ivoire. The meeting elected Mr. Akinwumi Adesina of Nigeria to 
succeed Mr. Donald Kaberuka whose second term as President 
of the Bank would end on August 31, 2015. 

The meeting was on the theme “Africa and the New Global 
Landscape,” and included a series of high-level seminars and 
side events on the continent’s economic, social and political 
situations, and how the Bank could leverage resources to 
improve living condition on the continent. 

•  The meeting also congratulated the Bank Group for 
successfully returning its operations to the statutory 
headquarters in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire after 11 years at the 
Temporary Relocation Agency in Tunis, Tunisia; and thanked 
the Côte d’Ivoire and Tunisian Governments for the support 
they provided towards the successful implementation of 
the Roadmap for the Bank’s return to its headquarters. 

• 
despite the challenging African and global environment 
and; 

•  Applauded the Bank Group for its leadership and quick 
response to the Ebola hemorrhagic fever epidemic in 
parts of West Africa, in particular the rapid mobilisation of 
emergency funding to support treatment and containment.

6.5 African Export-Import Bank (AFREXIMBANK)

The African Export-Import Bank (Afreximbank) held its 22nd 
AGM of the shareholders of the Bank in June in Lusaka, Zambia. 
Shareholders were informed that the Board of Directors, under 
its President and Chairman, Dr. Benedict Oramah, had approved 

its member countries to enable them adjust to current economic 
and terrorism-induced shocks. 
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
TO THE MINISTER OF FINANCE 

statements of the Bank and the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2015.

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the Bank is to pursue sound monetary and 

environment for sustainable economic growth.

The primary objective of the Bank is to maintain stability in the 
general level of prices and, without prejudice to this primary 
objective, promote economic growth and an effective and 

business of central banking.  There was no change in the nature 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

for each accounting period, which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Bank and the Group as at the end of 
the accounting period.

to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

• State whether applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures, disclosed and 

• 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will 
continue in business.

with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the 
manner required by the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612) and  
the Financial Administration Act, 2003 (Act 654) of Ghana.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any 

legislations and accounting standards.  The directors are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

There was no change in the membership of the Board of 
Directors as reconstituted in August 2014.  

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LEGISLATION AND 
ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK

information, are prepared in accordance with the Bank of Ghana 
Act, 2002 (Act 612), Financial Administration Act, 2003 (Act 
654) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

There was no change in accounting policies of the Bank.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The Bank owns 51% of the issued shares of Ghana International 
Bank Plc, a company incorporated in the United Kingdom, 
which carries on the business of commercial banking.

The Bank also owns 100% of the shares of Ghana Interbank 
Payment and Settlement Systems Limited, a company 
incorporated in Ghana which operates the national payments 
system.

The Bank also owns 70% of the shares of Central Securities 
Depository (GH) Limited, a company incorporated in Ghana to 
carry out the business of immobilisation and dematerialisation 
of securities.

DIVIDEND

The directors have declared a dividend of GH¢500 million (2014: 
GH¢600 million) subsequent to the reporting date. The dividend 
declared will be used to reduce government indebtedness in the 
books of the Bank. These are in accordance with Sections 6 and 
7 of the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612).
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GOING CONCERN

The directors have assessed the ability of the Bank to continue 
as a going concern. The directors therefore have a reasonable 
expectation that the Bank has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, we 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

approved by the Board of Directors on 24th March 2016 and 
were signed on their behalf by:

24th March, 2016 24th March, 2016
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE HON-
OURABLE MINISTER OF FINANCE

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

of Ghana (the Bank) and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) as 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 

of the Bank standing alone as at 31 December 2015  and the 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility For The Financial Statements 

statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and with the 
requirements of the Bank of Ghana Act 2002 (Act 612) and 
the Financial Administration Act, 2003 (Act 654), and for such 
internal control, as the directors determine is necessary to 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility 

statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s  internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 

statements.

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in the manner required by the Bank of Ghana Act 2002 (Act 
612) and the Financial Administration Act, 2003 (Act 654).

-------------------------------------------------------------------

PricewaterhouseCoopers (ICAG/F/2016/028)
Chartered Accountants
Signed by: Michael Asiedu-Antwi (ICAG/P/1138)
Accra, Ghana
24 March 2016

-------------------------------------------------------------------
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BANK OF GHANA 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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BANK OF GHANA 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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by:

Chairman (Governor)_____________________________               Director________________________________

BANK OF GHANA 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

____________________________________________________ ______ ___________________________
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BANK OF GHANA 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

The Bank
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BANK OF GHANA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

The Group

The GROUP

  
 
Year ended 31 December 
2015 

Stated 
Capital 

(note 27) 

Asset 
Revaluation 

 Reserve 
(note 28) 

Statutory 
Reserve 

(note 29) 

Other 
Reserve 

(note 30) 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve  

(note 30) 

 
Available 

for Sale 
(AFS) 

Reserve  
Retained 
Earnings 

 
 
 
 

Total 

 
 

Non- 
controlling 

Interest 

 
 
 
 

Total 

 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 

           

At 1 January 2015 
10,000 115,522 28,760 3,248,715 156,506 (2,205) 67,156 3,624,454 307,040 3,931,494 

Profit for the year - - - - - - 1,036,289 1,036,289 36,051 1,072,340 
Other comprehensive 

income               -               -               -                 -       1,079 (4,656)                  - (3,577) (4,473)     (8,050) 

Total comprehensive 
income               -                -               -                  -       1,079 (4,656) 1,036,289 1,032,712 31,578 1,064,290 
 
Gains on translation of 
foreign operation - - -   1,081 32,830       33,911 37,057 70,768
Dividend paid by group - - - (600,000) - - - (600,000) (21,136) (621,136)
Net revaluation 
surplus/(deficit) - - - 34,081 - - (34,081) - - - 
Transfer to statutory 
reserves - - - 978,893 - - (978,893) - - - 
Price & Exchange 
movement in gold, and 
other foreign assets              -               -              -           7,063               -              -    (7,063)                   -               -                   - 
           
At 31 December 2015 10,000 115,522 28,760 3,668,752 157,585 (5,780) 116,238 4,091,077 354,539 4,445,616 

 

 
Year ended 31 December 
2014 

Stated 
Capital 

(note 27) 

Asset 
Revaluation 

 Reserve 
(note 28) 

Statutory 
Reserve 

(note 29) 

Other 
Reserve 

(note 30) 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve  

(note 30) 

 
Available for 

Sale (AFS) 
Reserve 

 
Retained 
Earnings 

 
 
 

Total 

 
Non- 

controlling 
Interest 

 
 
 

Total 

 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 GH¢’000 

           

Balance at 1Jan 2014  10,000   115,522 28,760 2,430,345 76,883 711 46,457 2,708,678 208,289 2,916,967 

Profit for the year - - - - - - 925,063 925,063 38,848 963,911 
Other comprehensive income           -             -             -                  - 79,623 (2,916)               -      76,707   75,007      151,714 

Total comprehensive income                  -                        -                   -                      - 79,623 (2,916) 925,063 1,001,770 113,855 1,115,625 
Securitised prior year 
revaluation deficit on gold 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
324,017 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
324,017 

 
- 

 
324,017 

Gains on translation of foreign 
operation 

 
 

 
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
 

 
(5,011) 

 
(5,011) 

 
- 

 
(5,011) 

Dividend paid by group - - - (400,000) - - - (400,000) (16,155) (416,155) 
Utilisation of research fund - - - (5,000) - - - (5,000) - (5,000) 
Sale of interest to NCI - - - - - - - - 1,051 1,051 
Net revaluation 
surplus/(deficit) 

- - - (599,603) - - 599,603 - - - 

Transfer to statutory reserves - - - 1,505,304 - - (1,505,304) - - - 
Price & Exchange movement 
in gold, and other foreign 
assets 

 
             - 

 
              - 

 
             - 

 
      (6,348) 

 
               - 

 
             - 

 
         6,348 

 
                   - 

 
                - 

 
                   - 

At 31 December 2014 10,000 115,522 28,760 3,248,715 156,506 (2,205)       67,156 3,624,454 307,040 3,931,494 

assets 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
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1. STATUTE AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Bank of Ghana (the Bank) is wholly owned by the Government 
of Ghana, and operates as Ghana’s Central Bank.  Its operations 
are governed by the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612). The 

principal objectives and functions of the Bank are:

• To maintain stability in the general level of prices; and

• Without prejudice to the above, to support the general 
economic policy of the Government and promote economic 

and credit systems in the country, independent of instructions 
from the Government or any other authority.

In order to meet the above objectives the Bank:

• Formulates and implements monetary policy;

• Promotes stabilisation of the currency by monetary 
measures, and institutes measures favourable to the balance 

economic development;

• Undertakes prudential supervision of the banking sector and 

• Promotes, regulates and supervises the payments 
system;Issues and redeems currency notes and coins;

• Ensures effective maintenance and management of Ghana’s 

• Licenses, regulates, promotes and supervises non-bank 

• 

• Promotes and maintains relations with international banking 

incidental or conducive to the functions under the Bank of 
Ghana Act or any other enactment.

with that of its subsidiaries, together referred to as “The Group”.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Statement of Compliance and Basis of Preparation

prepared in accordance with the Bank of Ghana Act 2002 
(Act 612), the Financial Administration Act, 2003 (Act 654) 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
its interpretations as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

Going Concern

The Group has reviewed its business activities, together with the 
factors likely to affect its future development, performance and 
position. Based on the above, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the 
Group continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 

statements.

b. Basis of Measurement

cedi, which is the Bank’s functional currency, rounded to the 
nearest thousand. They are prepared on the historical cost basis 

plant and equipment which is carried on the revaluation model.  
The Group’s accounting policies have been applied consistently 
with those used in the previous year, except where otherwise 
indicated.

c. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

c. (i) New and Amended Standards and    
 Interpretations

The Group considered for application, certain standards and 
amendments which are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2015. However, these standards and 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 DECEMBER 2015
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The nature and the impact of each new standards and 
amendments are described below:

IAS 19) effective for annual periods after 1 July 2014

that require employees or third parties to contribute towards the 

earned in the year the contributions were paid. However, the 
treatment under the 2011 revised standard was not so clear. It 
could be quite complex to apply, as it requires an estimation of 
the future contributions receivable and an allocation over future 
service periods. 

To provide relief, changes were made to IAS 19. These allow 
contributions that are linked to service, but that do not vary 

that the service is provided. Therefore many entities will be 
able to (but not be required) continue accounting for employee 
contributions using their existing accounting policy. The Group 

Amendments to IFRS ‘Fair value measurement’, effective for 
annual periods after 1 July 2014 

which allows an entity to measure the fair value of a group of 

scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9.  Entities are required to apply this 

period in which IFRS 13 is applied. 

This amendment was already a common valuation practice 
prior to IFRS 13 and is thus not therefore expected to have a 

c. (ii) Improvements to International Financial   
Reporting Standards

Annual improvements to 2010-2012, 2011-2013 and 2012-
2014 Cycles

These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group. 

c. (iii) Standards Issued but not yet Effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 January 2015, and have not been applied in preparing this 

of the Group, except the following set out below:

liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 
2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the 

assets: amortised cost, fair value through OCI and fair value 

the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair 
value in OCI not recycling. There is now a new expected credit 
losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model 
used in IAS 39. 

and measurement except for the recognition of changes in 
own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities 

requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line 
hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship 
between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for 
the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management 
actually use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous 
documentation is still required but is different to that currently 
prepared under IAS 39. The standard is effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is 
permitted. The group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ deals with 
revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting 

nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 DECEMBER 2015
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Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a 
good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and 

replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ 
and related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and earlier 
application is permitted. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 15’s 
full impact.

IFRS 16, ‘Leases’

IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both  
parties to a contract, that is the customer (lessee) and the 
supplier (lessor). IFRS 16 is effective from 1st January, 2019 
and the group can choose to apply IFRS 16 before that date but 
only if it also applies IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers”. IFRS 16 replaces the previous leases standard, 
IAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations. The Group is yet to 
assess IFRS 16’s full impact.

statements’

Entities are to use the equity method to account for investments 
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 

January 2016.

Amendments to IFRS 10, and IAS 28, ‘Sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture’ 

These amendments address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in dealing with 
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the 
amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when 
a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a 
subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a 
transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, 
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. The amendments 
are effective from 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IAS 16,’Property, plant and equipment’ and 
IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’

methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not 
appropriate because revenue generated by an activity that 

the asset. 

to be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of 

presumption can be overcome if either:

• The intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue 
(ie. where a measure of revenue is the limiting factor on the 
value that can be derived from the asset), or 

• It can be shown that revenue and the consumption of economic 

The amendments are effective from 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
are made in the context of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative, which 

including materiality, disaggregation and subtotals, notes 
and other comprehensive income arising from investments 
accounted for under the equity method. According to the 
transitional provisions, the disclosures in IAS 8 regarding the 
adoption of new standards/accounting policies are not required 
for these amendments. The amendments are effective from 1 
January 2016.

Judgements

requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
of making the judgement about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 DECEMBER 2015
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the 

assumptions about future developments however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond 

assumptions when they occur.

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their 
fair value is measured using valuation techniques including 
the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF model). The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but 
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in 
establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair 

Fair value of the quoted notes and bonds is based on price 
quotations at the reporting date. The fair value of unquoted 

credit risk and remaining maturities. Derivatives valued using 
valuation techniques with market observable inputs are mainly 
interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts and 
commodity forward contracts. The most frequently applied 
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, 
using present value calculations. The models incorporate 
various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, 
foreign exchange spot and forward rates, interest rate curves 
and forward rate curves of the underlying commodity. Details 
on fair value determination and the fair value hierarchy have 
been disclosed in note 33.

Taxes

Though the Bank of Ghana is not subject to tax, the subsidiaries 
are. Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of 
complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount 
and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range of 
international business relationships and the long-term nature 
and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences 

arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, 
or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. The 
Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, 
for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities 
of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount 
of such provisions is based on various factors, such as 
experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations 
of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax 
authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide 
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the 
respective Group Company’s domicile. As the Group assesses 
the probability for any litigation with respect to taxes as remote, 
no contingent liability has been recognised. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is 

required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of 

Details on the Group’s tax position are disclosed in note 10.

the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. 
An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 
which may differ from actual developments in the future. These 
include the determination of the discount rate, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due 
to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions 

sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date. Details on the Group’s pension 

in note 26.

Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances

at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment 

particular, management judgement is required in the estimation 

the impairment loss. Factors considered include the nature and 
values of any collateral held against these facilities. Loans 
and advances that have been assessed individually and found 

advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets 
with similar risk characteristics, to determine whether provision 
should be made due to incurred loss events for which there 
is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. 
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The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan 
portfolio (such as levels of arrears), and judgements to the 
effect of concentrations of risks and economic data. Details on 
the Group’s impairments are disclosed in note 9. 

The following accounting policies have been approved by 
the Board and have been applied consistently to all periods 

subsidiaries in dealing with items that are considered material 

e. Basis of Consolidation

(i)   Subsidiaries

statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 
2015. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee, and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its 
returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar 
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of 
the investee

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of 
the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included 
in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the 
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control 
the subsidiary. 

income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of 

the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results 

of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and 

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in 
full on consolidation.

When the proportion of the equity held by non-controlling 
interests changes, the Group adjust’s the carrying amounts 

changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The Group 
recognises directly in equity any difference between the amount 
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 
value of the consideration paid or received, and attribute it to the 
owners of the parent.

are accounted for at cost less impairment.

(ii) Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expense 
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing 

eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

(iiii)  Changes in Ownership Interests in    
 Subsidiaries without change of Control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, 
as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The 
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(iv) Disposal of Subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in 
the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control 

or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the 
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 

any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the 
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
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f. Dividends Received

to receive payment is established, which is generally when 
shareholders approve the dividend.

g. Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense on available-for-sale assets 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 

of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future receipts or payments through the expected 

liability.  The effective interest rate is established on initial 

does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation includes 
all fees received or paid between parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and all other premiums or discounts.  Transaction costs are 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

or loss using the effective interest method.

h. Fees and Commissions

Fees and commission income and expenses that are an integral 

included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. Other 
fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, 
investment management fees, sales commission, placement 
and arrangement fees and syndication fees are recognised as 
the related services are performed. Other fees and commission 
expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which 
are expensed as the services are received. 

i. Other Operating Income

Other operating income includes gains or losses arising on 
fair value changes in trading assets and liabilities and penalty 

not complying with various sections of the Banking Act, 2004 
(Act 673) as amended by the Banking (Amendment) Act, 2007 
(Act 738).

j. Foreign Currency

(i)  Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency of Group entities using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions.  At the reporting date, monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
that date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

or loss.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at historical exchange rates if held at historical cost, and 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at 
the date that the fair value was determined if they are carried 
at fair value.  The resulting foreign exchange gains and losses 

exchange gains and losses arising from translation of holdings in 
gold, Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) held with the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) or holdings of foreign securities which are 
recognised in  Revaluation reserve (0ther reserve) to satisfy the 
requirement of section 7 of the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 
612). 

(ii)  Financial Statements of Foreign Operations

The Bank considers its subsidiary Ghana International Bank 
(GIB) as a foreign entity.  Accordingly, the assets and liabilities 
of the foreign operation, including any goodwill and fair value 
adjustments arising on acquisition are translated into Ghana 
Cedis at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.  

The revenues and expenses of the subsidiary are translated to 
Ghana Cedis at the average rate for the year.  Foreign exchange 
differences arising on these translations are recognised directly 
into equity, being foreign currency translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed off, in part or full, the 
relevant amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is 
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The following were the average and closing rates for the year 
ended.

k. Special Drawing Rights and International Monetary 
Fund Related Transactions

The Bank, on behalf of Government of Ghana, manages assets 
and liabilities in respect of Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) 
with the International Monetary Fund (IMF).  Exchange gains 
and losses arising from translation of SDRs at period ends are 
treated in accordance with note 2(j) above.

l.  Leases

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the risks 

measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and 
present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the leased asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

(ii)  Lease Payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 

Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part 
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.  When 
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way 
of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.

to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

m. Financial Assets and Liabilities

liabilities on initial recognition.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 31 DECEMBER 2015



2015 ANNUAL REPORT • BANK OF GHANA50

(ii)  Initial Recognition

and liabilities are recognised on trade date (the date the Group 
commits to the contractual provisions of the instrument).  

(iii)  Held-to-Maturity

Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and 

available-for-sale or loans and receivables. 

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less impairment. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate (EIR). The EIR amortisation is included 

arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of 

(iv)  Financial Assets and Liabilities held at Fair   

purpose of selling in the short-term. Financial assets and 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities on a different basis, or 

performance evaluated on a fair value basis.

(v) Loans and Receivables

market.  These are loans and receivables created by the Group 
providing money to a debtor other than those created with the 

receivables include cash and amounts due from banks and 
loans and advances.

(vi)      Available For Sale Financial Assets

receivable and held to maturity. 

in this category are those which are intended to be held for an 

to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market 
conditions.

(vii) Financial Liabilities Measured at    
 Amortised Cost

This relates to all other liabilities that are not designated at fair 

(viii) Subsequent Measurement

at fair value with the resultant fair value changes recognised 
in other comprehensive income.  The fair value changes on 

when the underlying asset is sold, matured or derecognised as 
well as impaired.

or loss are subsequently carried at fair value with the resultant 

receivables, held-to-maturity instruments and other liabilities 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected 

or liability.

(ix) Derecognition

when:

• 

• 
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
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party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of 
the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group 
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expires. When an 

lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 

(x) Fair Value Measurement

at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The 
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible to the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability 
is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair 

by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 
to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. The Bank uses valuation techniques that 

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. All assets and liabilities for which fair 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy disclosed in note 34.

(xi) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount 

when, the Group has a currently enforceable legal right to set 
off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when 
permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the 
Bank’s trading activity.

(xii)  Amortised Cost Measurement

recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initial amount recognised and 
the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are 
an integral part of the Effective Interest Rate (EIR).

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is 

impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss 
event”), and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 

include default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a 
loan and other observable data that suggests adverse changes 
in the payment status of the borrowers.
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determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for 

similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 
be recognised, are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment.

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 

at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that 
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its 

investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair 
value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence 
of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in 

their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as 

recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as 
the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously 

Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the 
reduced carrying amount of the asset, using the rate of interest 

measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. If a future write–off is later recovered, the 
recovery is credited to the ’Impairment recognised’.

Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost

due from banks, loans and advances to customers as well 

individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for 

Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment 

characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised, are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and 
the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. 
Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced 
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used 

the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of 
Interest and similar income. Loans together with the associated 
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been 
transferred to the Bank. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of 
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced 
by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write–off is later 
recovered, the recovery is credited to the ‘Credit loss expense’.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. If a future write–off is later recovered, the 
recovery is credited to the ‘Impairment recognised’.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, 

characteristics that considers asset type, industry, geographical 
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant 
factors. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of 

of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
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Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

than deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any 
such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount 
of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell and is determined for an individual asset, 

independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.

• the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported 
internally on a fair value basis;

• 
accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or

• the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that 

required under the contract. 

loss. 

(xv) Derivative Financial Instruments 

forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks, 
interest rate risks and commodity price risks, respectively. 

fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives 

or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 

n. Gold

at the prevailing closing spot market price on the London 
Bullion Market on that date. Changes in the fair value of gold 
holdings and investments arising from price changes as well 
as related foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised 

in the statement of changes in equity. The foreign exchange 
gains and losses on gold holdings are for the account of the 
Government of Ghana and consequently such gains and losses 
are transferred to other reserves in accordance with section 7 
of the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612).

o. Loans and Advances

loans and receivables.  Loans and advances are stated in the 

amounts in accordance with Note m (v) and m (viii).

The recoverable amounts of loans and advances are the 

instruments’ original effective interest rate.

p. Securities

Domestic Securities

Domestic securities consist of Government of Ghana 
redeemable, negotiable and interest bearing securities.  These 

Foreign Securities

This represents interest bearing short-term instruments 

Long-Term Government Securities

maturity securities issued by the Government of Ghana to 
cover the Bank in respect of net exchange losses arising on 
holdings of gold, SDRs or foreign securities. These securities 
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q. Property, Plant and Equipment

(i)  Recognition and Measurement

Items of property and equipment except land and buildings 
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Land and buildings are 
measured at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation 
on buildings and impairment losses recognised at the date of 

to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ 
materially from its carrying amount. A revaluation surplus is 
recorded in OCI and credited to the asset revaluation reserve 
in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 

the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset 
recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset.  

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials, labour, and any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use.  
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of PPE.

(ii)  Subsequent Costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment 
is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 

costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are 

(iii) Depreciation

basis over the estimated useful lives of each item of property 
and equipment in order to reduce the value to residual value 
over the useful life. Leased assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Capital work-in-progress is recorded at cost.  Land is not 
depreciated.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed and adjusted if necessary at the reporting date.

part is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

(iv) Revaluation

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any 
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount 
of the asset after revaluation.  Where assets carrying amount is 
increased as a result of revaluation, the increase is credited to 
other reserves.

Conversely, where the carrying amount is decreased as a result 

r. Intangible Assets

without physical substance held for use by the Group. These 
include computer software & licences.

The Group recognises an intangible asset if:

• 

• The cost of the asset to the Group can be measured reliably.

The Group’s intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
subsequent accumulated amortisation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost incurred to upgrade a 
software is capitalised.

Amortisation

a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible asset currently estimated to be 3 – 5 years.
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s. Deposits

Deposits are made up of balances due to Government of 

carried at amortised cost.  Interest bearing deposits are stated 
at amortised cost.  Non-interest bearing deposits are carried at 
cost.

t. Capital and Distributions

Stated Capital

Stated capital represents non-distributable capital of the Bank. 

Distributions

provided in the Bank of Ghana act as follows:

• 
the balance in the Reserve is less than the paid up capital of 
the Bank; or

• 
the balance in the Reserve is less than twice the amount of 
paid up capital;

• any residual to be utilised to settle Government of Ghana 
indebtedness and/or where none exists, to be paid into the 
Consolidated Fund.

Except that where there is a net loss on the Revaluation Account, 
the net surplus for the year shall be credited to it.

are due.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 

the current and prior periods.

requires contributions to be made to a separately administered 

plan is determined using the projected unit credit method. 
Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses 

and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are 

with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through 
OCI in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not 

• The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and

• The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related 
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the 

loss:

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service 
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine 
settlements

• Net interest expense or income

The Group recognises a liability and expense for termination 

• When the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of those 

• When the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that 
is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of 

decision to terminate an employee’s employment, the group can 
no longer withdraw the offer when the entity has communicated 
to the affected employees a plan of termination meeting all of 
the following criteria:

• Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely 

• 

functions and their locations (but the plan need not identify 
each individual employee) and the expected completion date.

• 

employment is terminated.
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Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility 
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment 

voluntary redundancies are recognised if the Group has made 
an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that 
the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can 
be estimated reliably.

undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided. An accrual is recognised for the amount expected to 

the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably. When an employee 
has rendered service to the Group during an accounting period, 
the group recognises the undiscounted amount of short-term 

service as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 
amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 

that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that 
the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future 
payments or a cash refund.

v. Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 

the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income or equity in which case it is recognised 
in other comprehensive income or equity.

The Bank is not subject to tax in respect of its functions under 
the Bank of Ghana Act.  

Bank Plc and Ghana Interbank Payments and Settlements 
Systems Ltd for the year, comprises current tax charge and the 
change in deferred tax.  Current tax liabilities (assets) for the 
current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities on the taxable 
income for the year, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

date.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, except:

• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition 
of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

• In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised, except:

• Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 

be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be 
applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based 
on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 

the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
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Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 

deferred tax asset to be recovered.

recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

w. Events after the Reporting Date

Events subsequent to reporting date are adjusted only to the 
extent that they provide evidence of conditions that existed at 
the end of the reporting period and their effect is material.

x. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, 
unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid 

their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management 
of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the 

y. Provisions and Contingencies

A provision is recognised if, as a result of past obligating event, 
the settlement amount can be estimated reliably, and it is 

settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting 

market assessments of the time value of money and, where 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the 

lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contract.  The provision is measured at the net present value 
of the lower of the expected cost to terminating the contract and 
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.  Before a 
provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment 
loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Contingent liabilities represent a possible obligation that arises 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or a 
present obligation that arises from past events but is not 
recognised because:

• 

• the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 

The Group does not recognise a contingent liability. The Group 
only discloses a contingent liability, unless the possibility of an 

z. Financial Guarantees and Performance Bonds

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to 

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their 
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee, and the initial fair 

guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this 
amortised amount and the best estimate of the present value of 
any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee 
has become probable). Financial guarantees are included within 
other liabilities.

Guarantees and performance bonds are given as security to 
support the performance of Government of Ghana (GoG) to third 
parties. The Bank will only be required to meet these obligations 
in the event of default by GoG. The guarantees and performance 
bonds are generally short -term commitments to third parties 
which are not directly dependent on GoG’s credit worthiness. 

z.a. Currency in Circulation

The Bank recognises liability in respect of currencies circulating 
in the public domain. Consequently, currencies issued by the 
Bank but which are not in circulation (i.e. held by the Central 
Bank and its Branches/Agencies) are excluded from the liability 
position at year end.
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3. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group enters into various irrevocable commitments and 
contingent liabilities. Even though these obligations may not 

contain some risk and are therefore disclosed below:

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitment

The Group had capital expenditure commitments of GH¢ 

at 31 December 2015 (2014: GH¢107.201 million). Capital 
expenditure commitments include capital expenditure contracts 
that have been awarded but have not yet been executed. The 
major projects ongoing include the construction of the Sunyani 

(b) Pending Legal Claims

There are contingent liabilities in respect of pending legal suits 
against the Group amounting to GH¢ 3.88 billion (2014: GH¢2.97 
billion). The contingent liabilities above relate to a number of 
outstanding cases. The disclosure of the individual cases in the 

statements as legal advice indicates that it is not probable that 

against the Bank in relation to the performance of its functions 
as a Central Bank, for contracts entered into by the Bank and 

(c) Documentary Credits

Contingent liabilities in respect of letters of credits for the Group 
amounted to GH¢209.3million (2014: GH¢168.245million)

(d) Guarantees and Performance Bonds

The Bank enters into various commitments in the normal course 
of its business. The maximum exposure of the Group in respect 
of guarantees and performance bonds outstanding as at 31 
December 2015 was GH¢2.23 billion (2014: GH¢1.96 billion).

(e) Securities and Pledges

The Bank has pledged GH¢4,760 million (2014: GH¢707.25 
million) as security for its short-term borrowings. The pledge is 
against the value of foreign securities.

4. EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
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5 i.  INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

5 ii.  EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

5 iii. INTEREST EXPENSE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Exchange differences comprise realised gains and losses made by the Bank on foreign exchange denominated transactions. 
Exchange Rate Equalisation represents the sum of gains and losses on daily revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency.

5(iv) FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fee and commission income represents income from central banking activities performed by the Bank to commercial banks and 
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5 v. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income includes gains or losses arising on fair 
value changes in trading assets and liabilities and penalties 

5 vi. DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is received from the subsidiaries and other 
investee entities of the Group when declared and paid.

6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The number of persons in employment at the end 
of the year was as follows:
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7. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT EXPENSES

8. CURRENCY ISSUE EXPENSES

9 a. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

Impairment losses are in respect of impairment made on loans and advances, other assets and investments, disclosed in notes 
15, 17 and 18 respectively whose recoverability has become doubtful.
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9 b. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT

The Bank

The Bank

The Group
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10. TAXATION

The Bank is exempt from payment of income taxes. Consequently, 
no provisions have been made in respect of income and 

However, the subsidiaries - Ghana International Bank Limited, 

Ghana Interbank Payment and Settlement Systems Limited and 
the Central Securities Depository are taxable entities as such 

level of tax payable by the subsidiaries.
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11. CASH AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM BANKS

12. GOLD

13. BALANCES WITH INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (IMF)

ounces at USD1, 197.33 per ounce). 

Membership in the Fund is quota based and is determined 
upon admission and periodically increased under general quota 

quota payments.  

The Holdings account represents the Special Drawing Right 
holdings with the IMF. Balances with IMF is current.
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14. SECURITIES

(i) Long-Term Government Securities

These are securities which have been issued by the Government 
of Ghana to cover among others net exchange losses arising on 
gold, special drawing rights or foreign securities in accordance 
with section 7 of the Bank of Ghana Act 2002 (Act 612).

(ii) Short-Term Securities

correspondent banks and investments held with overseas fund 
managers.

(iii) Other Securities

Other securities comprise securities that the group has 

deposits and Government of Ghana and other securities.

Total
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15. LOANS AND ADVANCES 

16. DERIVATIVES

17. OTHER ASSETS

Repos receivable at year end which are lending by the Central 
Bank to  commercial banks in its capacity as the lender of last 
resort.

The foreign currency swap balance arose from an underlying 
receivable of GH¢2.02 billion (2014: GH¢3.49 billion) from 
some commercial banks and GH¢1.78 billion payable to these 
commercial banks (2014: GH¢3.40 billion). The balance also 

includes the fair value of the embedded derivative of GH¢50.56 
million (2014: GH¢231.69 million) relating to the forward rates 
associated with the contracts. Derivatives are current.

Included in other receivables are imprest and sundry receivables.

Non-Current

Other Receivables

Non-Current
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18. INVESTMENTS 

18 b. Other Investments

All subsidiaries except GHIB are incorporated in the Republic of Ghana. Investment in subsidiaries has been carried at cost in the 

18 a. Subsidiaries

The investment in subsidiaries is made up of: 

• GH¢70,164,525 (2014:GH¢70,164,525) representing 51% 
equity holding in Ghana International Bank Plc, a commercial 
bank incorporated in the United Kingdom;

• GH¢76,909,229 (2014: GH¢76,909,229) representing 100% 
holdings in Ghana Interbank Payment and Settlement System 

(GhIPSS), a company incorporated in Ghana; and

• GH¢2,450,000 (2014: GH¢2,450,000) representing 70% in 
Central Securities Depository, a company incorporated in 
Ghana. 

The percentage holdings of Bank of Ghana in the various 
subsidiaries are as follows:

Equity investment in African Export-Import Bank 
(AFREXIM)

AFREXIM, incorporated in 1993 in Nigeria, was set up for the 

and extra-African trade. As at 31 December 2015, the Bank paid 
a total of GH¢21.34 million (2014: GH¢0.53 million) as equity in 
Afrexim. The proportion of the Bank’s equity interest to the total 
holding in Afrexim is 1.56%. 

stability function. There are plans to have this investment taken 
over by the Government. The held to maturity investments are 
held by the subsidiary in the United Kingdom. 

18a.
18b.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment Losses

16,413

Net Book Amount

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment Losses

Net Book Amount
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

expenses depending on the use of the item.

Cost

At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2014

New Book Amount

At 31 December 2014

Cost
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

21. DEPOSITS

22. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

Intangible assets refers to computer software.

of interest. These are denominated in US dollars and are current. 
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22.  SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

23. LIABILITIES UNDER MONEY MARKET OPERATIONS

The movement in short-term liabilities is as follows:

are shown as a liability of the Bank. These instruments include 91 day and 182 day instruments and are current. 

24 a. ALLOCATION OF SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS

The Bank, on behalf of Government of Ghana, manages assets and liabilities in respect of Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) with 
the International Monetary Fund (IMF). The allocation of SDR represent Ghana’s share of SDRs distributed by decision of the IMF 
based on the country’s IMF quota.

Allocations of SDRs are non-current. 

24 b. LIABILITIES TO INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND
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25. OTHER LIABILITIES

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATION

receive on retirement, dependent on one or more factors such 
as age, years of service and salary. A full actuarial valuation 

yearly basis. The plan liability is measured on an actuarial basis 
using the projected unit credit method, adjusted for unrealised 

discounted using rates equivalent to the long-term government 

at the year-end are as follows:

the excess liability is recognised as part of other liabilities. 

obligation and the excess assets have not been recognised 

the form of a reduction in future contributions or a cash refund. 
There are no legal or contractual requirement for the employer 
to make any additional minimum funding to the plan other than 
those actuarially determined. 

Total Recognised Benefit (liability) Asset

Plan Assets

Value of fund obligation at 31 December
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The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the 
using the projected unit credit method.

27 a. CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION

27 b.  CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION BY DENOMINATION

Actuarial Assumptions
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28. STATED CAPITAL

29. ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE 

This represents surplus arising on the revaluation of the Bank’s 
property, plant and equipment.

30. STATUTORY RESERVE   

The Statutory Reserve represents portions of surplus that have 
been set aside over the years in accordance with section 6 of the 
Bank of Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612). Transfers to the statutory 
reserve are made in reference to conditions in relation to the 
stated capital. These conditions have since been met hence no 
transfer has been made.

31. OTHER RESERVES

Authorised Number of Shares

Issued and paid

At 31 December

Shares are of no par value. There are no shares in treasury and no installments unpaid on any share.
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31.  OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

• The price and exchange component of other reserves is used 
to account for price movement in the gold reserves held by 
the Bank

• The foreign currency translation component of other reserves 
is used to account for the translation of the results of Ghana 
International Bank Plc which is a foreign operation.

• The available-for-sale component of other reserves is used 

to account for fair value movement in available-for-sale 
investments held by Ghana International Bank Plc.

• The transfer from surplus component of other reserves is 
used to account for the allocation requirements under the 
Bank of Ghana Act.

32.  NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Year ended 31 December 2015

At 31 December

Dividend paid by the Group
Sale of interest to non-controlling interest

Foreign 
Currency

Translation
Reserve

GH¢’000

Available 
for Sale

Reserves
GH¢’000
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Material Partly-Owned Subsidiary

Ghana International Bank Plc is the only subsidiary which has 
non-controlling interest which is material to the Group. Financial 

information relating to this subsidiary is provided below: 

Bank Plc (the material partly owned subsidiary) is provided 
below. This information is based on amounts before inter-
company eliminations.

33.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

loss (comprising held for trading and designated), available-for-

assets have been combined for presentation on the face of 

liabilities is summarised overleaf:
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Assets

Assets

The Bank

The Group
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Liabilities

The Bank

The Group
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Liabilities

34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable 

Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have 
created the following fair value hierarchy: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed equity 
securities and debt instruments on exchanges (for example, 
The Ghana Stock Exchange).

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices). This level includes the majority of Bank of Ghana’s 
securities and other derivative contracts. The inputs used 
include the Bank of Ghana published rates and discounted 

property, plant and equipment carried at market values. The 
main input into the valuation is recent market transactions.

•  Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (unobservable inputs). This 
level includes equity investments and debt instruments with 

2015 and 31 December 2014, the Group did not hold any 

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when 
available.  The Group considers relevant observable market 
prices in its valuation where possible. There has been no 

the current year. Financial instruments measured at fair value 

as follows:
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There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 
during the period.

Fair values are based upon market prices where there is a market 

changes in interest rates and credit risk.  Forward exchange 
rates and Gold prices are obtained and used from Bloomberg /
Reuters in valuing the derivatives and Gold.

35.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with Government of Ghana (GoG)

In the normal course of its operations, the Bank enters into 
transactions with related parties. Related parties include the 
Government, various Government Departments and Agencies. 
Unless stated otherwise, all transactions with related parties 
take place at arm’s length.

Transactions entered into include:
• banking services;
• foreign exchange transactions;
• purchases and disposals of government securities
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Loans and advances to GoG as well as securities issued to GoG 
are made at rates of interest agreed between the Ministry of 
Finance and the Bank of Ghana in accordance with the Bank 
of Ghana Act. Interest on any amount overdrawn by GoG is 
charged at the Bank of Ghana’s normal rate of interest. There 

are currently no impairments held in respect of loans, advances 
and securities to GOG. The balances on loans and security 
transactions with GoG have been disclosed in notes 14, 15 and 
21 respectively.

Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Key management personnel include directors and top level management.

Transactions with related companies in the year under review are as follows: 

36. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Bank is involved in policy-oriented activities. Therefore, 
elements of the Bank’s risk management framework might 
differ from the risk management frameworks for most other 

is exposed include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, interest 
rate risk, currency risk on both foreign and local currency 
assets. In the management of foreign reserves, minimising 
liquidity risk is a major consideration in order to maintain an 
effective foreign exchange intervention capability. The nature 
of the Bank’s operations creates exposure to a broad range of 
enterprise risks, including operational and reputational risks.

The Bank seeks to ensure that strong and effective risk 
management and control systems are in place for identifying, 
assessing, monitoring, and managing risk exposures. Specialist 

staff members conduct the Bank’s local currency, foreign 
currency reserves management, and foreign exchange-

management framework, including delegated authorities and 
limits set by Management. 

The overall risk management framework is designed to promote 
the sound and prudent management of the Bank’s risks.

Reserves Management and Domestic Market Operations units 
of the Bank’s Treasury Department. Within this department, a 
separate risk management team is responsible for maintaining 

independent risk reporting systems that monitor and report 
compliance with various risk limits and policies. The Risk 
Management Department is responsible for an enterprise-wide 

Short-Term Employee Benefits

Post-Employment Benefits

%
 ownership

Name of Subsidiary

The balances on these transactions are included in the respective assets and liabilities in the books of the Bank. 
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risk management system and reports on enterprise-wide risk 
management and related issues to the Board. A risk-based 
framework, which evaluates key business risks and internal 
controls, is used to determine the extent and frequency of 
internal audits conducted. All Bank departments are subject to 
periodic internal audit review. The Heads of Risk Management 
and Internal Audit Departments have direct and independent 
access to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, 
comprising three of the Bank’s non-executive directors. 
Summary information on the outcomes of internal audits is 
reported to the Audit Committee.

The Bank is subject to an annual external audit. Auditing 
arrangements are overseen by the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors, which meets regularly to monitor the 

committee reviews the internal audit function and has direct 
access to the external auditor. The Audit Committee reports to 
the Board of Directors on its activities. The Board of Directors 
monitors the Bank’s management of risk as part of its role of 
keeping the Bank’s performance and use of resources under 
constant review. Following a review this year, the Bank continues 
to self-insure all property, plant and equipment, including the 
Bank’s buildings.

Credit Risk 

Both the Bank and the Group are subject to credit risk through 
lending and investing activities and in cases where they act as 
intermediaries on behalf of customers or other third parties or 
when they issue guarantees. Credit risk associated with trading 
and investing activities is managed through the Group’s credit 
risk management process.

Concentrations of credit risk (whether on or off the statements 

exist for counter parties when they have similar economic 
characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or 
other conditions.

The risk that counter parties to trading instruments might 
default on their obligations is monitored on an ongoing basis.  In 
monitoring credit risk exposure, consideration is given to trading 
instruments with a positive fair value and to the volatility of the 
fair value of trading instruments.   The nature of the Group’s 
main operation as a Central Bank makes its loan portfolio not 
lend itself to normal aging analysis.

Credit Risk Measurement

Loans and Advances 

In measuring credit risk related to loans and advances to 
Government of Ghana, other governmental institutions and 
commercial banks at a counterparty level, the Central Bank 
considers the ‘probability of default’ by the Government of 
Ghana or counterparty on its contractual obligations. Exposure 
at default is based on the amount the Central Bank expects to be 
owed at the time of default. 

Cash and Amounts Due from Banks

institutions are accepted based on the Bank’s internal policy. 
The Treasury Department manages the credit risk exposure, by 
assessing the counterparties’ performances.

Securities 

Securities are held with the Government of Ghana and other 

manages the credit risk exposure by assessing the 
counterparties’ performance. 

Risk Limit Control and Mitigation Policy

The Central Bank manages limits and controls the concentration 

managed through regular analysis of the ability of the borrowers 
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations. The Central 
Bank employs policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The 
most traditional of these is the taking of security for advances. 
Bank of Ghana implements guidelines on the acceptability of 

principal collateral for loans and advances to staff includes 
provident funds and property deeds for staff loans. Collateral 
on all loan and advances to the Government of Ghana and 
commercial banks is their deposit accounts held at the Bank 
when contracts are signed.

Impairment and Provisioning Policy

purposes only for potential losses that have been incurred at 
the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment.
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Exposure to Credit Risks

The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date was:

% 
of Financial 

Assets

% 
of Financial 

Assets

% 
of Financial 

Assets

% 
of Financial 

Assets
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Group I

These are customers with no defaults in the past. Counterparties 
in this group include government, other central banks, 
commercial banks, employees (staff loans) and other assets.

Group II

These are existing customers (more than 6 months) with some 
defaults in the past. This group is mainly composed of loans to 
the other institutions. Refer to Note 9.

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit 
risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2015 and 2014 
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 
enhancements attached. The exposures set out above are based 
on carrying amounts as reported in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

As shown above, 91% as at 31 December 2015 (2014:96%) 
of the total maximum exposure arises from amounts due from 
central banks and commercial banks, loans and advances and 
securities.

the losses arising from its exposure to credit risk resulting from 
loans and advances and amounts due from the central banks 
and commercial banks.

Aside the credit risk grouping indicated above, the Bank also 
assesses the quality of the credit risk exposures using the no 

refers to none or very minimal credit risk exposure, medium risk 
class refers to some element of credit risk present and high risk 

exposed to credit risk disclosed above belong to the no risk 
class except loans and advances which are in the medium risk 
class. There is no balance in the high risk class. 

Loans and advances, amounts due from banks and other 
assets

The table below shows the gross (undiscounted) balances of 
the Group’s loans and advances with central banks, commercial 
banks and other assets analysed by type and performance less 
impairment:

Loans and 
Advances 
GH¢ ‘000

Other 
Assets

GH¢ ‘000

Carrying Value

The Bank
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Carrying Value

Carrying Value

Carrying Value

Cash and Amounts 
due from Banks

GH¢ ‘000

Cash and Amounts 
due from Banks

GH¢ ‘000

Cash and Amounts 
due from Banks

GH¢ ‘000

Loans and
 Advances 
GH¢ ‘000

Loans and
 Advances 
GH¢ ‘000

Loans and
 Advances 
GH¢ ‘000

Other 
Assets

GH¢ ‘000

Other 
Assets

GH¢ ‘000

Other 
Assets

GH¢ ‘000

The Bank

The Group

The Group
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(a) Neither Past Due nor Impaired

Loan and advances neither past due nor impaired are loan and advances to Government of Ghana and Commercial Banks with no 
default in the past. The table below details the nature of counterparties by industry.

(b) Individually Impaired

disclosed in the table below:

The Bank

The Group

The Bank

The Group

Cash and 
Amounts 
due from 

Banks

Cash and 
Amounts 
due from 

Banks

Balances with 
IMF and 

Securities

Balances with 
IMF and 

Securities

Loans and
 Advances 

Loans and
 Advances 

Loans and
 Advances 

Loans and
 Advances 

Other
 Assets

Other
 Assets

Other
 Assets

Other
 Assets

Cash and 
Amounts 
due from 

Banks

Cash and 
Amounts 
due from 

Banks
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Group’s 
activities and in the management of positions. It includes both 
the risk of being unable to fund assets to appropriate maturities 
and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset at a 
reasonable price and in an appropriate time frame.

The Group usually has access to a diverse funding base.  Funds 
are raised using a range of instruments including deposits, 
other liabilities regulated by law and other credit facilities.  This 

source of funds and generally lowers the cost of funds.  

The Group strives to maintain a balance between continuity of 

of maturities.  The Group continually assesses liquidity risk by 
identifying and monitoring changes in funding required to meet 
its goals and targets set in terms of overall Group strategy.  In 
addition, the Group holds a portfolio of liquid assets as part 
of its liquidity risk management strategy. The following are 

Liquidity Risk Management Process

The liquidity management processes, as carried out within the 
Finance Department and monitored by executive management 
and the Treasury Section include:

• Preparing cash-based budgets and periodic variance reports 

payment demands when they come due;

• 

• 
against internal requirements; and

• 

and projection for the next day, week and months respectively, 
as these are key periods for liquidity management. The basis 
for the projection is an analysis of the contractual maturity of 
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Financial Liabilities and Assets held for Managing Liquidity 
Risk

and assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining 

contractual maturities at the reporting date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash 

The Bank

ASSETS
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The Bank
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Assets held for Managing Liquidity Risk

The Bank manages its liquidity risks through appropriate 
structuring of its investment portfolios to ensure that the maturity 

is monitored and managed on a daily basis. In addition, the 
Group’s investment portfolio comprises mainly highly liquid 
investment instruments. Maturity shortfalls are managed by 
putting in place short-term borrowing arrangements before they 
are due. The Bank can also call on the Government to make 
funds available to manage the shortfalls. 

The Bank’s Assets held for Managing Liquidity Risk Comprise:

• Cash and balances with central banks and other operating 
banks; 

• 
institutions and Government of Ghana;

• Investment securities;
• Amount due from IMF; and
• Other assets.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads will 

instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters while optimising the return on assets. 

Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and 

movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates 
or prices such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 

The Central Bank’s primary exposure to market risk lies with 
its deposits held overseas which are exposed to changes in 
interest and exchange rates.  

Exposure to market risk is formally managed in accordance 
with risk limits set by senior management by buying or selling 
instruments or entering into offsetting positions.
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Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Variable Rate Instruments 

by amounts shown below.  Each analysis assumes all other variables; in particular foreign currency rates remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

Interest Rate Risk 

The Group’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate 

investments) and interest bearing liabilities mature or re-price at 
different times or in differing amounts.

also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference between re-

as the savings rate and six months LIBOR and different types 
of interest.  Risk management activities are aimed at optimising 
net interest income, given market interest rate levels consistent 
with the Group’s strategies.

Asset-liability risk management activities are conducted in the 
context of the Group’s sensitivity to interest rate changes.  The 

actual effect will depend on a number of factors, including the 
extent to which repayments are made earlier or later than the 
contracted dates and variations in interest rate sensitivity within 
re-pricing periods and amongst currencies.

The Central Bank has capacity to manage these risks by 
monitoring interest rates daily and ensuring within the limits of 

The following show the extent to which the Bank’s interest rate 
exposures on assets and liabilities are matched.  These are 
allocated to time bands by reference to the earlier of the next 
contractual interest rate re-pricing date and maturity.
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3 months or 
Less

Non-Interest
Bearing

Short-term liabilities
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Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from:

• maintenance of a portion of foreign currency reserves for 
liquidity management purposes;

• currency intervention to meet monetary policy objectives; 
and

• active management undertaken in trading portfolios.

The US dollar is the base currency for the entire foreign reserves 
portfolio.  However investments of the foreign reserves in other 
approved currencies is permissible. 

3 months or 
Less

Non-Interest
Bearing

Short-term liabilities
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Foreign exchange risk is managed as follows:

• Positions in securities not denominated in the base currency 
(i.e. USD) should be hedged to the extent reasonably 
practicable into the base currency. Foreign currency 
exposures other than the United States dollar are all managed 
from the United States dollar perspective. 

• A portfolio may also hold foreign exchange forward contracts 
in non-permissible currencies whose bonds are in a 
portfolio’s benchmark only to the extent that it can be fully 
hedged to the base currency.  A maximum allowance of +/- 
0.25% of market value is permitted for fully hedged exposure 
to allow for market drift.

• The internally-managed portfolio has determined currency 
limits that take into consideration the Bank’s expected foreign 
exchange liquidity needs.  Since the majority of foreign 
exchange liabilities are in U.S. dollars it carries the most 
weight in this currency distribution.

Ghana cedi.  As a result movement in the exchange rates of the 
various foreign currencies in which the Bank maintains selected 

The Bank owns a foreign subsidiary and therefore it is also 
exposed to foreign currency translation risk. The Group’s foreign 
currency denominated transactions and balances give rise to 

statements in accordance with note 2(j). The translation risk 
resulting from the consolidation of the foreign subsidiary are 
accounted for in the foreign currency translation reserves in 
equity.

As at 31st December, the foreign currency exposures are as 
follows:

Currency Exposure Analysis
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Sensitivity Analysis

A 10% strengthening of the Ghana Cedi against the following 
currencies at 31 December will have an increase/ (decrease) 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates remain constant. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis for 2014.

A 10% weakening of the Ghana cedi against the above currencies 
at 31 December would have had the equal but opposite effect 
on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the 
basis that all other variables remain constant.

Capital Management

The Bank does not have any regulator that sets and monitors 
its capital requirements. The Bank considers its stated capital 
and other reserves as its capital. The Central Bank’s objective 
in managing capital and reserves is to ensure the Central Bank’s 
ability to continue to perform its function as set by the Bank of 
Ghana Act, 2002, (Act 612).

There is no regulation for the Bank to maintain a prescribed 
ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets, for example. 
The Bank of Ghana Act stipulates the authorised number of 
shares to be seven hundred billion of no par value to be taken up 
from time to time by the Government, which may be increased 
from time to time. The Act further stipulates that the shares 

shall not be transferable or subject to any encumbrance. There 
has not been any non-compliance with capital management 
requirements of the Bank of Ghana Act, 2002, (Act 612).

The provisions of the Act seek to ensure that the Government 
of Ghana continues to own a hundred per cent stake to bear all 

Ghana International Bank, the material subsidiary’s banking 
operations are directly supervised by its local regulators. For 
this subsidiary, the directors regard share capital and reserves 
as its capital for capital management purposes and its principal 

participate in lines of business and to meet capital adequacy 
requirements of the Prudential Regulatory Authority in the United 
Kingdom. Regulatory capital adequacy requirements were met 
during the year.

Average Rate
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37. NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

(a) The Bank
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(b) The Group

38. Events after Reporting Date

The directors have declared a dividend of GH¢500,000,000 
(2014: GH¢600,000,000) subsequent to the reporting date 
which would be used to offset government indebtedness in the 
books of the Bank in accordance with Section 6 of the Bank of 
Ghana Act, 2002 (Act 612).

39.         Comparative Information

where applicable, to conform to the current year’s 
presentation.  
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